JAIST Repository

https://dspace.jaist.ac.jp/

Title	 局所麻酔薬によるリポソーム膜中におけるラフト模倣 構造の不安定化		
Author(s)	菅原,恒		
Citation			
Issue Date	2017-09		
Туре	Thesis or Dissertation		
Text version	ETD		
URL	http://hdl.handle.net/10119/14834		
Rights			
Description	Supervisor:高木 昌宏, マテリアルサイエンス研究科 , 博士		



Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology

Doctoral thesis

Destabilization of membrane raft-mimetic structure on liposomal membrane induced by local anesthetics.

Ko Sugahara

School of Materials Science,

Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology

(JAIST)

Mentor :

Professor Masahiro Takagi

Assistant professor Naofumi Shimokawa

Judges from JAIST

Professor M. Takagi

Professor K. Fujimoto

Associate professor T. Hamada

Associate professor H. Tsutsui

Judges from external organization

Professor Y. Miura*

*Faculty of Engineering, Department of Chemical Engineering,

Kyushu University

Contents

Chap	ter 1. Genera	l introduction	p.7-31
------	---------------	----------------	--------

1-1. Mechanism of pain-signal transduction
1-2. Shielding of pain signals by local anesthetics
1-3. Biomembrane
1-4. Lipid raft: the ordered structure of membrane molecules
1-5. Liposome: biomimetic membrane
1-6. Phase separation on liposome: the raft-mimetic structure
1-7. Objective and outlines

Reference

Chapter 2. The effect of local anesthetics on stability of raftmimetic structure and fluidity of liposome......P.32~52

- **2-1. Introduction**
- 2-2. Materials and Methods
 - 2-2-1. Materials
 - 2-2-2. Preparation of liposome for microscopic observation
 - 2-2-3. Microscopic observation of phase-separated structure on liposome
 - 2-2-4. Fluidity measurement of phase-separated liposome

2-3. Result

2-3-1. Effect of LAs on liposomal phase behavior

2-3-2. Effect of LAs on membrane fluidity

2-4. Discussion

Reference

3-1. Introduction

3-2. Materials and Methods

- 3-2-1. Materials
- **3-2-2.** Preparation of liposome for microscopic observation
- 3-2-3. Microscopic observation of phase-separated structure on liposome
- 3-2-4. Line tension measurement by flicker spectroscopy of domain boundary fluctuation
- 3-2-5. Preparation of colloidal solution for DSC experiment
- **3-2-6. DSC experiment**

3-3. Result

- 3-3-1. Miscibility temperature measurement in LAs-containing lipid membranes
- 3-3-2. Line tension measurement at liquid domain boundary in
 - LAs-containing lipid membranes
- 3-3-3. DSC measurement in LAs-containing lipid membranes
- **3-4.** Discussion

Reference

Chapter 4. Conclusion and future perspective......P.93~107

4-1. General conclusion

4-2. Future perspective

Acknowledgement Reference

Chapter1. General introduction

1-1. Mechanism of pain-signal transduction

Initial state of pain-signal transduction starts from depolarization of membrane potential [1– 3]. The potential state in and outside of the cell separated by the biomembrane is maintained in negatively charged state due to the function of the ion pump protein present in the membrane. Due to increase of cation near by the membrane, or combining with stimulus, channel protein on the biomembrane will open the small pore which can pass through the cation, and cation in the outside of the membrane flows into inside of membrane. By this mechanism, membrane potential tilts to temporary positive, and these mechanism called membrane "depolarization". When the neighboring membrane region had depolarized, voltage-dependent cation channel will react and form the pore to be pass through cations into inner-membrane, and depolarized the potential of neighboring membrane region. As these membrane depolarization are repeated, the electric signal transfers on the membrane surface (Fig.1-1). Not only pain, but five sense, cooling and warming sense are also transferred by similar mechanisms as explained. In another word to say, transduction of sensation can be inhibited by inactivation of membrane protein which relate on membrane depolarization. As the agents with such abilities, local anesthetics (LAs) were often used as pain killer trough the modern medicine.



Fig.1-1 Simplified diagram of the mechanism by which an electric signal is transmitted through the surface of the nerve cell membrane

1-2. Mechanisms of local anesthesia

Until recently, local anesthetics (LAs) have been essential drugs especially for modern surgical medicine, and often used to suppress patients' pain. The mechanism of the pain signal suppression is believed that LAs deactivate sodium-ion channel protein and inhibit action potential of neural cell membranes [4–8]. Inhabitation of ion-channels were partially explained by direct interaction with LAs via the binding site by molecular simulations [9,10]. These studies shown the closure mechanisms of cation-gate structures accompanying whom conformational changes. However, the direct interaction hypothesis cannot explain all the mechanisms of interaction diverse ion-channels and LAs. However, location of binding site and their mechanisms how LAs deactivating channel protein have not been fully explained.

On the other hand, some groups expected that these mechanisms of LAs could be explained by the changes of physical properties of biomembranes, where the ion-channel proteins were buried, by the interaction between LAs [11,12]. Since the most of LA molecules have large hydrophobic parts in their structures, LAs may interact with the hydrophobic region of biomembranes, and alter the physical properties of biomembranes. As a result of their interaction, the channel proteins varied in biomembranes can be indirectly influenced by LAs through the physical property changes of biomembranes. In fact, some groups had investigated the correlation on the hydrophobicity of LAs [13]. Furthermore examined the clarified the interaction between phospholipid membranes and LAs by handling nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) [14,15]. Moreover, some studies reported the function of a membrane protein like as ion-channels can be affected by physical property changes of membrane and function of ion-channel proteins is also changed consequently [16–18]. Based on the above cases, the relation between the function of the LAs and physical properties of the membrane is not negligible.



Fig.1-2 Direct (left) and indirect (right) mechanisms of sodium-channel blockage.

1-3. Biomembrane

Inner contents of cell and organelle are separated from outer-environment by biomembranes mainly composed with phospholipids and cholesterol (Chol), and sugars and proteins are distributed [19–23] (Fig.1-3). Molecules constituting a biomembranes are amphipathic molecules having both a hydrophilic group and a hydrophobic group in their structure while directing the hydrophilic group toward the solvent side. These membrane molecules are oriented as fluidic bilayer structure by weak interaction derived from hydrophobicity [24-26]. On the surface of biomembranes, there are various functional molecules are known to be localized [27–29]. The receipt of signal molecules by such receptor proteins exchanges biological signals through the membrane [30–33]. Furthermore, sugar chains which bind to proteins and lipids in membranes and protrude to membrane surface contribute to immune recognition [34]. On the other hand, the opening of the channel protein contributes to the generation and transmission of electrical signals traveling through biological membranes [35,36]. The behaviors and physical property of biomembranes strongly affected to the structure and function of membrane channel proteins [16,30,31]. For these reasons, biomembranes are regarded as an important platform for signal exchange and transduction.



Fig.1-3 Schematic of biomembrane

1-4. Lipid raft: the ordered structure of membrane molecules

Regarding the distribution of membrane molecules, the fluid mosaic model proposed by Singer and Nicolson was mainstream [37,38]. This model suggested the molecules randomly distribute without having the order in the fluid lipid membrane. However, recently, microdomain with well-ordered structure called "lipid raft" was suggested by Simons and Ikonen [39–41]. Lipid raft has relatively less fluidic structure like as phase separation mainly composed with saturated lipid and Chol. This specific structure known to localize the integral proteins such as receptor and ion-channel. In fact, lipid raft localizes receptor protein groups involved in intracellular signals and contributes to signal transmission between nerves [42]. In fact, channel protein which can be influenced by LAs is known to be localized in lipid raft [43]. Thus, this specific microdomain are regarded as the center of signal transduction by function as center organization of functional molecules. Therefore, many studies focus on the behavior and property of lipid raft to clarify the mechanisms of cellar signaling [20].



Fig.1-4 Schematic image of biomembrane and lipid-raft.

1-5. Liposome: the biomimetic membrane

Biological membranes are composed of a wide variety of components including proteins and lipids, sugar etc... Moreover, it is necessary to consider the contribution of other organelles and cytoskeleton, it is difficult to discuss physical properties on the biological membrane and phenomena on them. For these reasons, lipid aggregate: liposome are drawing attention as model systems of biological membranes.

Phospholipids, the main component of biomembranes, are amphiphilic molecules composed with hydrophilic head groups and hydrophobic carbon chains (Fig.1-5). When amphiphilic molecules are presented into polar solvents such as water, they self-associate in solution by hydrophobic interaction while directing their hydrophilic head group to solvent side [44,45]. When the solute concentration in the solvent exceeds a certain level, amphipathic molecules form a bilayer membrane structures. Among such bilayer structures, the spherically closed shape is referred to as liposome.

The structure and composition of liposomes are similar to actual biological membranes. At the same time, their structural simplicity makes easier to discuss many phenomena on biomembranes from chemical or physical aspects. Moreover, because they are artifact materials, preparing the experimental environment by adjusting these systems is more prepared than using actual living cells. Especially, the liposomes which has microscale size: the giant unilamellar vesicles (GUVs) are having enough size for microscopic observation. From these reasones, they have been used for many studies as a biomembrane model to discuss [46–48].



Fig.1-5 Schematic image of phospholipid and its assemblies

1-6. Phase separation on liposome: the raft-mimetic structure

Depending on the composition, it is possible to reproduce the raft-mimetic structure in the liposome membrane [41,49]. The basic structure of raft is said to be resembling phase separation of saturated lipid / cholesterol-rich rich less-fluidity region in the membrane. When a liposome membrane is prepared by mixing a saturated lipid / unsaturated lipid, phase separateds-structure between fluidic liquid-disordered phase (L_d) rich with unsaturated lipids and less-fluidic solid-ordered phase (S_0) rich in saturated lipids. When cholesterol is further added to this composition, a liquid ordered phase (L₀) which behaves liquidly while maintaining an ordered structure appears. In particular, this L_0 / L_d phase separation structure is regarded as a mimetic structure of lipid rafts in biological membranes due to compositional similarity and is used in various studies to understand various phenomena occurring on rafts. This phase separation structure is made up of the balance between the interfacial energy functioning between saturated lipid and unsaturated lipid and the entropy of mixture of lipids in the system. The strength of interfacial energy of molecules can be influenced by many factors, but they often discussed with fluidity difference between each molecules [50,51]. If the interfacial energy works strongly, a phase separation structure appears. Conversely, if mixing entropy overcomes interfacial energy, the lipids mix and become a uniform phase state.

The phase separation state of the membrane is an important clue for understanding the physical properties of the membrane as it is involved in the localization of the membrane molecule and can cause a significant change in the local physical properties in the membrane.

If the addition of local anesthetic is involved in the phase state of the membrane, it is presumed that the localization of the membrane molecule and the change of the membrane physical properties will occur at the same time, and it is considered that the function of the channel protein on the membrane will also be affected as a matter of course. For these reasons, we have been studying focusing on the effects of local anesthetics on the phase state of liposome membranes.



Fig.1-6 Phase diagram of multicomponent-lipid membrane composed with DOPC, DPPC and Chol (left). Images of liposomes which are expressing different phase state (right). Each liposomes are expressing liquid-disordered (L_d) monophase (upper), liquid-ordered (L_o)/ L_d 2 phases (middle), and solid-ordered/ L_d 2phases (bottom).

1-7. Objective and outline

Several studies had suggested the correlation between behavior of membrane raft and function of LAs. To clarify this question, in previous studies, we focused on the effects of LAs presence on the behavior of reproduced raft-mimetic structure on liposomal membranes. We revealed the influence of LAs on stability of phase-separated structure in liposomal membranes by microscopic observation and handling differential scanning calorimetric technic. We discussed the effect of LAs on stability of raft-mimetic structures on below section.

In the chapter.2, we investigated the effect of LAs (lidocaine, and tetracaine) on formation state of phase-separated structures on saturated lipid (DPPC)/ unsaturated lipid (DOPC) (S_o/L_d) and DPPC/DOPC/Chol (L_o/L_d) liposomes by direct observation with fluorescent microscope. Furthermore, we measured fluidity of LA presented raft-mimetized liposomes by measuring membrane GP values of Laurdan fluorescent in each L_o and L_d phases. From the result of GP value measurement, we discussed correlation between change of fluidity in each phases and stability of phase-separation due to the interaction with LAs.

In the chapter.3, we investigated the thermal stability of the phase-separated structures in biomimetic lipid membranes containing LAs. Initially, the miscibility temperatures in DOPC/DPPC/LAs and DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs were measured by fluorescence microscopic observation. Next, we measured the line tension at L_o/L_d interface from the fluctuation of the domain boundary in DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs to discuss the stability of the domain. Finally, DSC measurement was used to clarify the lipid transition temperatures in LA-containing lipid membranes. From the results of DSC experiments, the partitioning of LAs in the coexisting

phases was considered. Moreover, we discussed the influence of LAs on thermal stability of phase separation on liposomal membranes.

Reference

1. Baumann, T. K.; Chaudhary, P.; Martenson, M. E. Background potassium channel block and TRPV1 activation contribute to proton depolarization of sensory neurons from humans with neuropathic pain. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* **2004**, *19*, 1343–1351, 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03097.x,.

2. Okada, M.; Corzo, G.; Romero-Perez, G. A.; Coronas, F.; Matsuda, H.; Possani, L. D. A pore forming peptide from spider Lachesana sp. venom induced neuronal depolarization and pain. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Gen. Subj.* **2015**, *1850*, 657–666,

10.1016/j.bbagen.2014.11.022, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2014.11.022.

3. Witschi, R.; Punnakkal, P.; Paul, J.; Walczak, J.-S.; Cervero, F.; Fritschy, J.-M.; Kuner, R.; Keist, R.; Rudolph, U.; Zeilhofer, H. U. Presynaptic α2-GABAA receptors in primary afferent depolarization and spinal pain control. *J. Neurosci.* **2011**, *31*, 8134–8142,

10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6328-10.2011, https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-

s2.0-79958048276&partnerID=40&md5=ea8b759e6d97474df4c86e9b81b11598.

4. Becker, D. E.; Reed, K. L. Local anesthetics: review of pharmacological considerations. *Anesth. Prog.* **2012**, *59*, 90-101–3, 10.2344/0003-3006-59.2.90,

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3403589&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.

5. Ragsdale, D. S.; McPhee, J. C.; Scheuer, T.; Catterall, W. A. Common molecular

determinants of local anesthetic, antiarrhythmic, and anticonvulsant block of voltage-gated Na+ channels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1996**, *93*, 9270–9275,

10.1073/pnas.93.17.9270,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8799190%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/art iclerender.fcgi?artid=PMC38631.

6. Scholz, A. Mechanisms of (local) anaesthetics on voltage-gated sodium and other ion channels. *Br. J. Anaesth.* **2002**, *89*, 52–61, 10.1093/bja/aef163,.

7. Fodor, A. A.; Gordon, S. E.; Zagotta, W. N. Mechanism of tetracaine block of cyclic nucleotide-gated channels. *J Gen Physiol* **1997**, *109*, 3–14, 10.1085/jgp.109.1.3,.

 Barann, M.; Göthert, M.; Fink, K.; Bönisch, H. Inhibition by anaesthetics of 14Cguanidinium flux through the voltage-gated sodium channel and the cation channel of the 5-HT3 receptor of N1E-115 neuroblastoma cells. *Naunyn. Schmiedebergs. Arch. Pharmacol.* **1993**, *347*, 125–132, 10.1007/BF00169256,.

9. Boiteux, C.; Vorobyov, I.; French, R. J.; French, C.; Yarov-Yarovoy, V.; Allen, T. W. Local anesthetic and antiepileptic drug access and binding to a bacterial voltage-gated sodium channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2014**, *111*, 2–7, 10.1073/pnas.1408710111, http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1408710111.

10. Catterall, W. a From Ionic Currents to Molecular Mechanisms : The Structure and Function of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels. *Neuron* **2000**, *26*, 13–25, 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81133-2,.

 Komai, H.; McDowell, T. S. Differential effects of bupivacaine and tetracaine on capsaicin-induced currents in dorsal root ganglion neurons. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2005, *380*, 21– 25, 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.01.004,

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S030439400500025X.

12. Tsuchiya, H.; Mizogami, M. Interaction of local anesthetics with biomembranes consisting of phospholipids and cholesterol: Mechanistic and clinical implications for anesthetic and cardiotoxic effects. *Anesthesiol. Res. Pract.* **2013**, *2013*, 10.1155/2013/297141,.

13. Tateuchi, R.; Sagawa, N.; Shimada, Y.; Goto, S. Enhancement of the 1-Octanol/Water Partition Coefficient of the Anti-Inflammatory Indomethacin in the Presence of Lidocaine and Other Local Anesthetics. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2015**, *119*, 9868–9873,

10.1021/acs.jpcb.5b03984,.

14. de Paula, E.; Schreier, S.; Jarrell, H. C.; Fraceto, L. F. Preferential location of lidocaine and etidocaine in lecithin bilayers as determined by EPR, fluorescence and 2H NMR. *Biophys. Chem.* **2008**, *132*, 47–54, 10.1016/j.bpc.2007.10.004,.

Weizenmann, N.; Huster, D.; Scheidt, H. a. Interaction of local anesthetics with lipid bilayers investigated by 1H MAS NMR spectroscopy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* 2012, *1818*, 3010–3018, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.07.014,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.07.014.

16. Brohawn, S. G.; Su, Z.; MacKinnon, R. Mechanosensitivity is mediated directly by the lipid membrane in TRAAK and TREK1 K+ channels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **2014**, *111*,

3614-3619, 10.1073/pnas.1320768111,

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1320768111.

17. Muraoka, T.; Endo, T.; Tabata, K. V.; Noji, H.; Nagatoishi, S.; Tsumoto, K.; Li, R.; Kinbara, K. Reversible ion transportation switch by a ligand-gated synthetic supramolecular ion channel. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136*, 15584–15595, 10.1021/ja5070312,.

Booth, P. J.; Riley, M. L.; Flitsch, S. L.; Templer, R. H.; Farooq, A.; Curran, A. R.;
 Chadborn, N.; Wright, P. Evidence that bilayer bending rigidity affects membrane protein
 folding. *Biochemistry* 1997, *36*, 197–203, 10.1021/bi962200m,.

19. Armbruster, B. N.; Li, X.; Pausch, M. H.; Herlitze, S.; Roth, B. L.; Bichet, D.; Lin, Y.-

F.; Ibarra, C. a; Huang, C. S.; Yi, B. A.; Jan, Y. N.; Jan, L. Y.; Boch, J.; Bonas, U.; Scholze,

H.; Schornack, S.; Landgraf, A.; Hahn, S.; Kay, S.; Lahaye, T.; Nickstadt, A.; Bonas, U.;

Cermak, T.; Doyle, E. L.; Christian, M.; Wang, L.; Zhang, Y.; Schmidt, C.; Baller, J. a;

Somia, N. V; Bogdanove, A. J. A. J.; Voytas, D. F.; Fegan, A.; White, B.; Carlson, J.;

Wagner, C.; Gao, R.; Stock, A. A. M.; Gunewardene, M. S.; Subach, F. V.; Gould, T. J.;

Penoncello, G. P.; Gudheti, M. V.; Verkhusha, V. V.; Hess, S. T.; Hacein-Bey-Abina, S.; Pai,

S.-Y.; Gaspar, H. B.; Armant, M.; Berry, C. C.; Blanche, S.; Bleesing, J.; Blondeau, J.; de

Boer, H.; Buckland, K. F.; Caccavelli, L.; Cros, G.; De Oliveira, S.; Fernández, K. S.; Guo,

D.; Harris, C. E.; Hopkins, G.; Lehmann, L. E.; Lim, A.; London, W. B.; van der Loo, J. C.

M.; Malani, N.; Male, F.; Malik, P.; Marinovic, M. A.; McNicol, A.-M.; Moshous, D.;

Neven, B.; Oleastro, M.; Picard, C.; Ritz, J.; Rivat, C.; Schambach, A.; Shaw, K. L.;

Sherman, E. a.; Silberstein, L. E.; Six, E.; Touzot, F.; Tsytsykova, A.; Xu-Bayford, J.;

Baum, C.; Bushman, F. D.; Fischer, A.; Kohn, D. B.; Filipovich, A. H.; Notarangelo, L. D.;

Cavazzana, M.; Williams, D. a.; Thrasher, A. J.; Hubbard, S.; Till, J.; Joung, J. K.; Sander,

J. D.; Katritch, V.; Cherezov, V.; Stevens, R. C.; Lemmon, M. a; Schlessinger, J.; Link, a J.;

Skretas, G.; Strauch, E.-M.; Chari, N. S.; Georgiou, G.; Lodish, H; Berk, A; Zipursky, S.;

Lohmueller, J. J. J.; Armel, T. Z.; Silver, P. a; Mak, a. N.-S.; Bradley, P.; Cernadas, R. a.;

Bogdanove, A. J. A. J.; Stoddard, B. L.; Mali, P.; Aach, J.; Lee, J.-H.; Levner, D.; Nip, L.;

Church, G. M.; Meer, G. Van; Voelker, D.; Feigenson, G.; Perler, F. B.; Olsen, G. J.; Adam,

E.; Ponka, P.; Nam, C.; Radhika, V.; Proikas-Cezanne, T.; Jayaraman, M.; Onesime, D.; Ha,

J. H.; Dhanasekaran, D. N.; Rasmussen, S. G. F.; DeVree, B. T.; Zou, Y.; Kruse, A. C.;

Chung, K. Y.; Kobilka, T. S.; Thian, F. S.; Chae, P. S.; Pardon, E.; Calinski, D.; Mathiesen,

J. M.; Shah, S. T. a; Lyons, J. a; Caffrey, M.; Gellman, S. H.; Steyaert, J.; Skiniotis, G.;

Weis, W. I.; Sunahara, R. K.; Kobilka, B. K.; Ruta, V.; Chen, J.; MacKinnon, R.; Saito, H.;

Schneider, C.; Owen, M.; Banville, D.; Williams, J.; Shen, J.; Maruyama, I. N.; Stock, A. A.

M.; Stockert, R.; Subach, F. V.; Patterson, G. H.; Manley, S.; Gillette, J. M.; Lippincott-

Schwartz, J.; Verkhusha, V. V.; Terng, H. J.; Geßner, R.; Fuchs, H.; Stahl, U.; Lang, C.;

Whitaker, W. R.; Davis, S. a.; Arkin, a. P.; Dueber, J. E.; Moscou, M.; Bogdanove, A. J. A.

J.; Selgrade, D.; Lohmueller, J. J. J. Molecular cell biology. *Science (80-.).* **2009**, *101*, 1–4, 10.1038/nrm2330.Membrane,

http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ja401689b%5Cnhttp://www.sciencemag.org/content/32 6/5959/1501.short%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=349781 5&tool=pmcentrez&rendertype=abstract%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articleren

p. 25

de.

20. Head, B. P.; Patel, H. H.; Insel, P. A. Interaction of membrane/lipid rafts with the cytoskeleton: Impact on signaling and function: Membrane/lipid rafts, mediators of cytoskeletal arrangement and cell signaling. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* **2014**, *1838*, 532–545, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.07.018,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.07.018.

21. Gaber, B. P.; Yager, P.; Peticolas, W. L. Interpretation of biomembrane structure by Raman difference spectroscopy. Nature of the endothermic transitions in phosphatidylcholines. *Biophys. J.* **1978**, *21*, 161–176, 10.1016/S0006-3495(78)85516-7, http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0006349578855167.

22. Goñi, F. M. The basic structure and dynamics of cell membranes: An update of the Singer-Nicolson model. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* **2014**, *1838*, 1467–1476, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.01.006, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.01.006.

23. Biomembranes_ Structural Organization and Basic Functions - Molecular Cell BiologyNCBI Bookshelf.pdf.

24. Murate, M.; Kobayashi, T. Revisiting transbilayer distribution of lipids in the plasma membrane. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* **2016**, *194*, 58–71, 10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2015.08.009, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chemphyslip.2015.08.009.

25. Bretscher, M. Asymmetrical lipid bilayer structure for biological membranes. *Nature*1972, *236*, 11–12, 10.1038/newbio236011a0, http://www.nature.com/nature-

p. 26

newbio/journal/v236/n61/abs/newbio236011a0.html.

26. Bilayer, T. L. The Lipid Bilayer - Molecular Biology of the Cell - NCBI Bookshelf The Lipid Bilayer - Molecular Biology of the Cell - NCBI Bookshelf Page 2 of 4.

27. Epand, R. M. Lipid polymorphism and protein-lipid interactions. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Rev. Biomembr.* **1998**, *1376*, 353–368, 10.1016/S0304-4157(98)00015-X,.

Manuscript, A.; Dynamics, M. P.; Cells, M. NIH Public Access. 2014, 1–27,
 10.1016/B978-0-12-417027-8.00003-9.Membrane,.

29. Johnson, J. E.; Cornell, R. B. Amphitropic proteins: regulation by reversible membrane interactions (review). *Mol. Membr. Biol.* **1999**, *16*, 217–35, 10.1080/096876899294544, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10503244.

30. Valiyaveetil, F. I.; Zhou, Y.; MacKinnon, R. Lipids in the structure, folding, and function of the KcsA K+ channel. *Biochemistry* **2002**, *41*, 10771–10777, 10.1021/bi026215y,.

31. Van Den Brink-Van Der Laan, E.; Antoinette Killian, J.; De Kruijff, B. Nonbilayer lipids affect peripheral and integral membrane proteins via changes in the lateral pressure profile. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* **2004**, *1666*, 275–288,

10.1016/j.bbamem.2004.06.010,.

32. Lopez, S.; Bermudez, B.; Montserrat-De La Paz, S.; Jaramillo, S.; Varela, L. M.; Ortega-Gomez, A.; Abia, R.; Muriana, F. J. G. Membrane composition and dynamics: A target of bioactive virgin olive oil constituents. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* **2014**, 1838, 1638–1656, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.01.007,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.01.007.

33. STEPHENSON, R. P. a Modification of Receptor Theory. *Br. J. Pharmacol. Chemother.* **1956**, *11*, 379–393, 10.1111/j.1476-5381.1956.tb00006.x,.

34. Daubenspeck, J. M.; Jordan, D. S.; Simmons, W.; Renfrow, M. B.; Dybvig, K. General N- and O-linked glycosylation of lipoproteins in mycoplasmas and role of exogenous oligosaccharide. *PLoS One* **2015**, *10*, 1–16, 10.1371/journal.pone.0143362,.

35. Golding, N. L.; Kath, W. L.; Spruston, N. Dichotomy of action-potential
backpropagation in CA1 pyramidal neuron dendrites. *J. Neurophysiol.* 2001, *86*, 2998–
3010, 10.1126/science.1222017,.

36. MacDonald, P. E.; Rorsman, P. Oscillations, intercellular coupling, and insulin secretion in pancreatic ?? cells. *PLoS Biol.* **2006**, *4*, 167–171, 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040049,.

37. Singer, S. J. J.; Nicolson, G. L. L. The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes. *Science (80-.).* **1972**, *175*, 720–731, 10.1126/science.175.4023.720,.

38. Nicolson, G. L. The Fluid - Mosaic Model of Membrane Structure: Still relevant to understanding the structure, function and dynamics of biological membranes after more than 40 years. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* **2014**, *1838*, 1451–1466,

10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.10.019, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.10.019.

39. Simons, K.; Ikonen, E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* **1997**, *387*, 569–572, http://www.nature.com/articles/42408.

40. Simons, K.; Sampaio, J. L. Membrane Organization and Lipid Rafts. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **2011**, *3*, a004697–a004697, 10.1101/cshperspect.a004697,.

41. Simons, K.; Vaz, W. L. C. Model systems, lipid rafts, and cell membranes. *Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct.* **2004**, *33*, 269–295, 10.1146/annurev.biophys.32.110601.141803,.

42. Tsui-Pierchala, B. A.; Encinas, M.; Milbrandt, J.; Johnson, E. M. Lipid rafts in neuronal signaling and function. *Trends Neurosci.* **2002**, *25*, 412–417, 10.1016/S0166-2236(02)02215-4,.

43. Pristerà, A.; Baker, M. D.; Okuse, K. Association between tetrodotoxin resistant channels and lipid rafts regulates sensory neuron excitability. *PLoS One* **2012**, *7*, 10.1371/journal.pone.0040079,.

44. TORCHILIN, V. Multifunctional nanocarriers ☆. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* **2006**, *58*, 1532–1555, 10.1016/j.addr.2006.09.009,

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0169409X06001785.

45. Nishimura, K.; Suzuki, H.; Toyota, T.; Yomo, T. Size control of giant unilamellar vesicles prepared from inverted emulsion droplets. *J. Colloid Interface Sci.* **2012**, *376*, 119–125, 10.1016/j.jcis.2012.02.029, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jcis.2012.02.029.

46. Cheng, C.-Y.; Olijve, L. L. C.; Kausik, R.; Han, S. Cholesterol enhances surface water diffusion of phospholipid bilayers. *J. Chem. Phys.* **2014**, *141*, 22–513, 10.1063/1.4897539,.

47. Nakao, H.; Ikeda, K.; Iwamoto, M.; Shimizu, H.; Oiki, S.; Ishihama, Y.; Nakano, M. pH-dependent promotion of phospholipid flip-flop by the KcsA potassium channel. **2014**,

10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.10.001,.

48. Arumugam, S.; Petrov, E. P.; Schwille, P. Cytoskeletal Pinning Controls Phase Separation in Multicomponent Lipid Membranes. 10.1016/j.bpj.2014.12.050,.

49. Marsh, D. Cholesterol-induced fluid membrane domains: A compendium of lipid-raft ternary phase diagrams. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* **2009**, *1788*, 2114–2123, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2009.08.004, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2009.08.004.

50. Sezgin, E.; Gutmann, T.; Buhl, T.; Dirkx, R.; Grzybek, M.; Coskun, Ü.; Solimena, M.; Simons, K.; Levental, I.; Schwille, P. Adaptive Lipid Packing and Bioactivity in Membrane Domains. 10.1371/journal.pone.0123930,.

51. McCarthy, N. L. C.; Brooks, N. J. Using High Pressure to Modulate Lateral Structuring in Model Lipid Membranes; 1st ed.; Elsevier Inc., 2016; Vol. 24.

Chapter 2. The effect of local anesthetics on stability of raft-mimetic structure and fluidity of liposome

2-1. Introduction

Local anesthetics (LAs) are essential drugs for modern medicine that are often used to suppress patients' pain. LAs are known to target functional protein, voltage-dependent sodium channels, which are located on cellular membranes. The mechanism how LAs shield pain signals was believed that LAs interact with the channel protein directly, and make it be deactivated[1,2]. However, binding sites on the channel proteins had not been elucidated completely. In addition, according to past reports, LAs exhibit toxicity against human cells. The presence of LAs sometimes induces fatal side effects such as allergy, liver malfunction, and analgesia[3]. The mechanisms how these toxicity or diseases inducted by LAs are also not fully understood. Recently, however, some studies are expecting that these mechanisms can be explained by the change of the physical property of lipid membranes where the proteins are buried induced by addition of LAs[4].

Cell membranes which are composed of lipid bilayer structure, are known to relate with signal transductions via membrane dynamics such as vesicular formation. In fact, some studies are providing correlation between physical property changes on biomembrane and behavior of channel proteins[5]. Moreover, "lipid raft model" was proposed by Simons and Ikonen in 1997 [6,7]. Lipid raft is the region where the large amount of saturated lipids and cholesterols are included and some functional molecules such as ion channels and membrane receptors can be localized, and lipid raft speculated as a platform for signal transduction.

In order to reveal the mechanism of raft formation, "liposome" which is mainly composed of phospholipids is used as a mimetic model of biomembrane system. Liposome has similar structure to actual biomembranes, so we can directly observe similar phenomena on liposome with optical microscope. Especially, raft formation can be regarded as the phase separation between saturated lipid and cholesterol-rich and unsaturated lipid-rich phases in model membrane system, so from the biological aspect, it is important to discuss phase behavior of model membrane[8].

In this study, we observed the phase separation in lipid membranes containing typical LAs, lidocaine and tetracaine, by optical microscopes. In order to understand the phase separation, the membrane fluidity is estimated by Laurdan generalized polarization measurement. Finally, we discuss the physiological action of LAs based on the experimental results.
2-1. Materials and Methods

2-2-1. Materials

Local anesthetics, 2-(diethylamino)-N-(2,6 dimethylphenyl)acetamide (lidocaine) and 2-(dimethylamino)ethyl 4-(butylamino) benzoate (tetracaine) were purchased from Nacalai Tesque (Japan) and Tokyo Chemical Industry (Japan), respectively. Unsaturated lipid, 1,2dioleoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC), saturated lipid, 1,2-dipalmitoyl-sn-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DPPC), and cholesterol (Chol) were purchased from Avanti Polar Lipids (USA). Fluorescent probes, Rhodamine В 1,2-dihexadecanoyl-sn-glycero-3phosphoethanolamine, triethylammonium salt (Rhod-DHPE) and 6-dodecanoyl-2dimethylaminonaphthalene (Laurdan) were purchased from Invitrogen and Funakoshi, respectively. Rho-DHPE molecules are mainly localized in DOPC-rich liquid-disordered (L_d) phase. Ultrapure water (specific resistance $\geq 18 \text{ M}\Omega$) was obtained using a Millipore Milli-Q purification system. The chemical structures for lipids and LAs are shown in Fig.2-1.

Local anesthetics













Fig.2-1 Chemical structures of lidocaine (a) and tetracaine (b), DOPC (c) and DPPC (d), cholesterol (e), Rhodamine-DHPE (f), Laurdan (g), respectively.

2-2-2. Preparation of liposome for microscopic observation

Liposomes were prepared by natural swelling method (Fig.2-2). Lipids (DOPC, DPPC, Chol) and LAs (lidocaine, tetracaine), fluorescents (Rhod-DHPE, Laurdan) were dissolved in chloroform, and their concentrations were 2mM, 0.5mM, and 10μ M, respectively. 10mM Glucose dissolved in methanol. These stock solutions were put into glass test tubes, and then mixed all of them. These solutions were dried under vacuum for least 3 hours to form thin lipid films. The films were then hydrated overnight with deionized water at 55 °C to produce unilamellar liposomes. The final concentrations were 0.2mM lipids and LAs, 0.6mM glucose, 0.01mM Rhod (10 μ M in case of GP value measurement), and 0.25 μ M Laurdan.



Fig.2-2 Schematic of liposomal preparation

2-2-3. Microscopic observation of phase-separated structure on liposome

We observed effects of LAs on phase separation in the binary (DOPC/DPPC=50/50mol%), and ternary (DOPC/DPPC/Chol=40/40/20mol%) mixtures by using fluorescent microscope (Fig.2-3). The sample temperature was kept at 21.5 ± 1 °C with a microscope stage (MATS-555MORA-BU, Tokai hit). We observed 60 liposomes for each composition, and classified the phase-separated structures based on domain shape and diffusion. In DOPC/DPPC binary system, phase-separated structures mainly formed solid-ordered (S_o) domains having anisotropic shapes surrounded by L_d phase.



Fig.2-3 Schematic of microscopic observation

2-2-4. Fluidity measurement of phase-separated liposome

Membrane fluidity changes by the presence of LAs were evaluated by using Laurdan (Fig.2-4). The Laurdan generalized polarization (GP) measurement gives degrees of order state of hydrophobic carbon chains of phospholipid molecule [9,10]. The wavelength of the fluorescent emission from Laurdan is affected by the number of water molecules near Laurdan. The fluorescent spectrum shifts toward longer wavelengths due to dipole relaxation. It is possible to measure the degree of lipid fluidity by this spectrum shift qualitatively. Therefore, when the chains are disordered, as in the liquid phase, the fluorescence shifts toward longer wavelengths. On the other hand, the fluorescence shifts toward shorter wavelength, when the chains are ordered, as in the solid phase. GP value of the membrane can be calculated by the following equation.

$$GP \text{ value} = \frac{I_1 - I_2}{I_1 + I_2} \tag{1}$$

Here, I_1 and I_2 are the fluorescent intensities in the range of 430- 455 nm and 490-540 nm, respectively. The Laurdan GP values were measured in the liposomes consisting of DOPC/DPPC/Chol(40/40/20mol%). We also performed the Laurdan GP measurement in these liposomes containing LAs to evaluate the effect of LAs on the GP values.

In order to discuss membrane fluidities of domain and non-domain regions separately, we set the threshold value determined from Rhod-DHPE fluorescent intensity, and identified the

lower and higher intensity regions as DPPC and Chol-rich liquid-ordered (L_o) phase and DOPC-rich L_d phase, respectively.



Fig.2-4 Schematic of Laurdan GP value measurment

2-3. Result

2-3-1. Effect of LAs on liposomal phase behavior

We observed 60 liposomes for each composition, and classified the phase-separated structures based on domain shape and diffusion. In DOPC/DPPC binary system, phase-separated structures mainly formed solid-ordered (S_0) domains having anisotropic shapes surrounded by L_d phase (Fig.2-5 (a)). We could not find the significant change in the percentage of phase-separated structures by adding Lidocaine or tetracaine as shown in Fig.2-5(d).

 L_o domains having circular shapes surrounded by L_d phase (Fig.2-5(b)), were often observed in DOPC/DPPC/Chol ternary mixture. As increased the Chol molar ratio, the L_o domains were formed easily. Although more than half of liposomes exhibited the phaseseparated structures, the ratio of L_o domains was decreased, and that of homogeneous phase (Fig.2-5(c)) was increased by adding lidocaine or tetracaine (Fig.2-5(e)). Since the percentages of phase-separated structures (sum of S_o/L_d and L_o/L_d) are 73% (lidocaine 10%), 65% (lidocaine 20%), 67% (tetracaine 10%), and 60% (tetracaine 20%), tetracaine slightly further suppressed the phase separation compared with lidocaine. These results indicate that the presence of LAs destabilized phase-separated structures, and enhanced mixture of lipids.



Fig.2-5 Microscopic images of multi-component liposomes; (a)S₀/L_d phase separation, (b)L₀/L_d phase separation, and (c) homogenous phase. Bright region indicates L_d phase, and dark region indicates S₀ and L₀ phases in (a) and (b), respectively. The percentages of phase-separated structures in DOPC/DPPC/LAs and DOPC/ DPPC/ Chol/LAs, are represented in (d) and (e), respectively. Black, gray, and while bars denote S₀/L_d, L₀/L_d, and homogenous phase, respectively.

2-3-2. Effect of LAs on membrane fluidity

In order to understand the suppression of the domain formation in ternary lipid mixtures with LAs, we measured the GP values of 15 liposomes composed of ternary components (DOPC/DPPC/Chol=40/40/20mol%), and measured GP values of L_o (domain region) and L_d (non-domain region) phases separately based on the fluorescence intensity of Rhod-DHPE; the regions with lower and higher intensities were regarded as L_o and L_d phases, respectively. In Fig.2-6 (a) and (b), the changes of GP values in L_o and L_d phases by adding lidocaine and tetracaine are indicated. The GP values of L_o phase denoted by triangles with solid lines in Fig.2-6 (a) and (b) had not been affected in both cases of lidocaine and tetracaine. However, GP values obtained from L_d (DOPC-rich) phase became higher by presenting LAs (circles with dashed lines in Fig.2-6 (a) and (b)). These results indicate that LAs did not influence to fluidity of L_o phase. On the other hand, L_d phases became less fluidic by LAs. In addition, the difference of fluidity between L_o and L_d phases became smaller as increased the LAs concentration. We will discuss how the phase behavior is governed by the fluidity difference between L_o and L_d phases.



Fig.2-6 Average GP values of LA added membranes (n=15). Triangles with solid lines on (a) and (b) show GP values of DPPC membranes, and circles with dashed lines show GP values of DOPC membranes. Bar on each marker shows standard deviation of GP values of each component.

4. Discussion

We observed the phase separation in binary and ternary lipid mixtures with LAs. In addition, the membrane fluidities were evaluated by the Laurdan GP value measurement. We will discuss the relation between the phase behavior and the membrane fluidity. In general, the phase separation can be understood by the competition between the lipid interaction energy and the mixing entropy of lipids [11]. Here, we focus on the change of the interaction energy by adding LAs for simplicity. Thus, it is important to consider how the line energy at domain boundary is changed by LAs. The line energy is directly influenced by the fluidities of domain and non-domain regions, and the membrane fluidity in each phase is determined by the various physical properties, such as membrane fluidity difference between domain and non-domain regions becomes smaller, we can understand that the line energy at domain boundary is reduced qualitatively and the phase separation is suppressed.

In ternary lipid mixtures with LAs, the phase separation is suppressed by adding LAs. As shown in Fig.2-6, the fluidity of L_d phase was decreased as LAs concentrations increased, whereas that of L_o phase kept almost constant. Since the fluidity difference between domain and non-domain regions became sufficiently smaller, the phase separation is suppressed in the ternary lipid mixtures. We expect that the line tension at domain boundary is reduced sufficiently and will measure it quantitatively.

In binary lipid mixtures with LAs, the phase behavior was not significantly changed as increasing in LAs concentration. Since the scattered or string-like S_o domains were formed

in DOPC/DPPC binary systems, we could not measure the GP values clearly. However, we can expect that the fluidity of the DOPC-rich L_d phase becomes lower by adding LAs as is the case with the ternary system. Since the fluidity of S_o phase was lower than that of L_o phase, the fluidity difference between domain and non-domain regions was larger in the binary system compared with the case of ternary system. Even if the fluidity of L_d phase became lower, the fluidity difference between S_o and L_d phases did not become smaller sufficiently. In other words, the line tension at domain boundary did not become small enough to destabilize the phase-separated structures. Thus, in binary mixture, the phase behavior was not dramatically changed. In future, we will examine the fluidity change between the phases more precisely.

It is worth pointing out that the four important problems still remains. Now, we explain about the phase behavior based on the fluidity change of L_d phase by adding LAs. Although we could not find any effects of LAs on S₀ and L₀ phases, some researches mentioned about the physical property change of DPPC membranes by LAs [12]. Especially, it is important to reveal the domain formation in LAs-containing membranes as changing the temperature [13]. In such a case, the crucial effects on S₀ and L₀ phases may be found even in the Laurdan GP value measurement. We will study to understand the role of LAs in the domain formation at different temperatures.

Tetracaine is known to have stronger anesthetics action and be more toxic than lidocaine. In our experimental results, the phase separation was suppressed and the change of membrane fluidity was larger in the case of tetracaine-containing membranes than of lidocainecontaining membrane. However, this difference between tetracaine and lidocaine was too small to explain the anesthetics action and the toxicity of these LAs. We believe that the obvious difference of phase behavior between lidocaine and tetracaine containing membranes can be found at different temperatures. In addition, it may be possible to reveal the effects of LA molecules on lipid membranes more clearly. It also remains as a future problem.

Our results showed the evidence of interaction between LA molecules and L_d phase that could be regarded as non-raft region in actual cellular membrane. But, even the actual distribution of LA molecules on L_d/L_o phase-separated liposome and the detailed interaction between LA molecules and lipids are still unclear. In order to reveal the LA molecules distribution in heterogeneous membranes and understand the reduction of membrane fluidity of L_d phase by LA molecules based on the molecular interaction between LA molecules and lipids, it is important to perform the additional experiments, such as Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) measurement.

If LA molecules influence to sodium ion channels known as a target of LAs through the change of the membrane physical properties, we can propose two hypotheses. Since the location of sodium ion channels in actual cellular membrane is not fully understood, we discuss the cases that sodium channels is located in non-raft region and raft region. If sodium channels are located in non-raft region, the action of sodium channels may be suppressed due to the lower membrane fluidity by addition of LAs. On the other hand, when sodium channels are located in raft region, sodium channels cannot function correctly, because raft region becomes unstable by LAs. We consider that it is important to discuss the relation between the location of sodium channels and the physical property change by LAs more precisely.

In this study, we observed the destabilization of phase-separated structures and the membrane fluidity changes in bio-mimetic membranes by adding LAs. Additionally, those effects of LAs showed some correlation with strength of regents.

Reference

1. Boiteux, C.; Vorobyov, I.; French, R. J.; French, C.; Yarov-Yarovoy, V.; Allen, T. W. Local anesthetic and antiepileptic drug access and binding to a bacterial voltage-gated sodium channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2014, *111*, 13057–13062.

2. Boiteux, C.; Vorobyov, I.; French, R. J.; French, C.; Yarov-Yarovoy, V.; Allen, T. W. Local anesthetic and antiepileptic drug access and binding to a bacterial voltage-gated sodium channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2014, *111*, 2–7, 10.1073/pnas.1408710111, http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1408710111.

3. Monti, M.; Monti, A.; Borgognoni, F.; Vincentelli, G. M.; Paoletti, F. Treatment with lipid therapy to resuscitate a patient suffering from toxicity due to local anesthetics. *Emerg. Care J.* 2014, *10*, 0–3, 10.4081/ecj.2014.1820, http://www.pagepressjournals.org/index.php/ecj/article/view/ecj.2014.1820.

4. Komai, H.; McDowell, T. S. Differential effects of bupivacaine and tetracaine on capsaicin-induced currents in dorsal root ganglion neurons. *Neurosci. Lett.* 2005, *380*, 21–25, 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.01.004, http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S030439400500025X.

5. Brohawn, S. G.; Su, Z.; MacKinnon, R. Mechanosensitivity is mediated directly by the lipid membrane in TRAAK and TREK1 K+ channels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 2014, *111*, 3614–3619, 10.1073/pnas.1320768111, http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1320768111.

6. Simons, K.; Ikonen, E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 1997, 387, 569-

572, http://www.nature.com/articles/42408.

7. Simons, K.; Sampaio, J. L. Membrane Organization and Lipid Rafts. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2011, *3*, a004697–a004697, 10.1101/cshperspect.a004697,.

8. Morales-Penningston, N. F.; Wu, J.; Farkas, E. R.; Goh, S. L.; Konyakhina, T. M.; Zheng, J. Y.; Webb, W. W.; Feigenson, G. W. GUV preparation and imaging: Minimizing artifacts. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr.* 2010, *1798*, 1324–1332, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2010.03.011,

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0005273610001100.

9. Sezgin, E.; Sadowski, T.; Simons, K. Measuring Lipid Packing of Model and Cellular Membranes with Environment Sensitive Probes. *Langmuir* 2014, *30*, 8160–8166, 10.1021/la501226v, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/la501226v.

10. Sezgin, E.; Gutmann, T.; Buhl, T.; Dirkx, R.; Grzybek, M.; Coskun, Ü.; Solimena,
M.; Simons, K.; Levental, I.; Schwille, P. Adaptive Lipid Packing and Bioactivity in
Membrane Domains. 10.1371/journal.pone.0123930,.

11. Hanzal-Bayer, M. F.; Hancock, J. F. Lipid rafts and membrane traffic. *FEBS Lett.* 2007, *581*, 2098–2104, 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.03.019,.

12. Græsbøll, K.; Sasse-Middelhoff, H.; Heimburg, T. The thermodynamics of general and local anesthesia. *Biophys. J.* 2014, 10.1016/j.bpj.2014.04.014,.

Machta, B. B.; Gray, E.; Nouri, M.; McCarthy, N. L. C.; Gray, E. M.; Miller, A. L.;
 Brooks, N. J.; Veatch, S. L. Conditions that Stabilize Membrane Domains Also
 Antagonize n-Alcohol Anesthesia. *Biophys. J.* 2016, *111*, 537–545,
 10.1016/j.bpj.2016.06.039, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2016.06.039.

Capter.3 Thermal stability of phase-separated domains in multicomponent lipid membranes with local anesthetics

3-1. Introduction

Local anesthetics (LAs) are essential drugs, especially in modern surgical medicine, and are frequently used to suppress pain. The mechanism behind the suppression of pain signals by LAs is believed to result from the deactivation of sodium ion channel proteins and inhibition of the action potentials of neural cell membranes [1-3]. Molecular simulations have partly explained the inhibition of ion channels as direct interactions between LAs and the binding sites on the proteins [4,5]. These studies have demonstrated the closure behavior of cation-gate structures that accompanies conformational change. However, the direct interaction hypothesis does not adequately explain the deactivation of ion channels by LAs. Recent studies have suggested indirect interactions between the channels and LAs [6,7]. Since most LA molecules have large hydrophobic parts in their structures, LAs may interact with the hydrophobic region and alter the physical properties of the biomembranes. As a result, the channel proteins in biomembranes would be indirectly influenced by LAs through changes in the physical properties of the membranes. Some groups have focused on the hydrophobicity of LAs [8] and examined the interactions between phospholipid membranes and LAs using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) [9,10]. In addition, it has been reported that the structures of membrane proteins are influenced by the bending rigidity of lipid membranes [11]. Some studies have found that the membrane tension mediated by a mechanical stimulus affects the function of ion channels [12]. As shown in these cases, modulation of the function of membrane proteins via changes in the physical properties of

the membrane, such as bending rigidity and membrane tension, is central to understanding the function and behavior of membrane proteins.

The importance of indirect interactions between channel proteins and LAs has attracted much attention, thus the interactions between biomembranes and LAs are worthy of investigation. Biomembranes, which are mainly composed of a phospholipid bilayer structure, are known to be involved in signal transduction mechanisms, such as vesicle formation [13]. Furthermore, it is believed that compositional heterogeneity emerges spontaneously in biomembranes. These heterogeneous structures are known as a "lipid rafts" [14,15]. The lipid raft is a specific region containing a large amount of cholesterol (Chol) and saturated phospholipids, as well as some functional proteins including ion channel proteins and membrane receptors. Therefore, lipid rafts are thought to be important platforms for signal transduction. Additionally, sodium ion channel proteins, which can be affected by LAs, are also known to exist in lipid rafts [16]. Hence, it is important to clarify the correlation between lipid rafts and biosignal transductions such as those that occur in anesthesia.

Due to the complexities of biomembranes, however, it is difficult to investigate the stability of the lipid raft by adding LAs. Thus, to reveal the interactions between lipid rafts and additive molecules such as LAs, liposomes—regarded as model biomembranes—are widely used. In particular, typical multicomponent lipid membranes consisting of unsaturated lipids, saturated lipids, and Chol exhibit phase separation between the unsaturated lipid-rich liquiddisordered (L_d) phase and the saturated lipid/Chol-rich liquid-ordered (L_o) phase [17–22]. Since the L_o phase is composed of saturated lipids and Chol, it is considered a suitable model of the raft region. The adsorption of LAs onto solid-ordered (S_o) phase, consisting of

p. 55

saturated lipids and L_0 phases, has been investigated by quartz crystal microbalance with dissipation [23,24]. Furthermore, we have observed the suppression of phase separation on raft-mimetic liposomes composed of unsaturated and saturated lipids and Chol via microscopy. Since the fluidity of the L_d phase decreases on the addition of LAs and the fluidity gap between the L_0 and L_d phases reduces, these events result in the suppression of phase separation [25]. Conversely, in the case of binary lipid mixtures consisting of unsaturated and saturated lipids, the fluidity difference between the S_0 and L_d phases is not adequately reduced. Consequently, separation of the S_0/L_d phase is not suppressed by LAs [25].

Furthermore, from a physiological aspect, anesthesia via LAs can be enhanced by dosing at higher temperatures [26]. Therefore, it is also important to discuss the thermal stability of the L_{0} phase in the presence of LAs. Differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) measurements have revealed that the thermal stabilities of the S_0 and L_0 phases are decreased by LAs [23,24,27]. Gray et al. revealed that lowering the miscibility temperature, defined as the temperature for the transition between phase separation and the homogeneous phase, via the addition of liquid general anesthetics using giant plasma membrane vesicles isolated from living cells, correlates with the strength of general anesthetics [28]. Although the effects of LAs depend on the presence of Chol, the relationship between LAs and Chol is not fully understood. In this study, we investigated the thermal stability of the phase-separated structures in biomimetic lipid membranes containing LAs. First, the miscibility temperatures in unsaturated lipids, dioleoylphosphocholine (DOPC)/ saturated lipids, dipalmitoylphosphocholine (DPPC)/LAs and DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs were measured by fluorescence microscopy. Next, we measured the line tension at the L_o/L_d interface from the fluctuation of the domain boundary in DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs to examine the stability of the domain. Finally, DSC measurements were used to clarify the lipid transition temperatures in LA-containing lipid membranes. From the results of the DSC experiments, it was considered that LAs are partitioned as coexisting phases. Moreover, we discussed the influence of LAs on the thermal stability of phase-separated domains in multicomponent lipid membranes.

3-2. Materials and methods

3-2-1. Materials

Unsaturated lipids, 1,2-dioleoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DOPC), saturated lipids, 1,2-dipalmitoyl-*sn*-glycero-3-phosphocholine (DPPC), and Chol were purchased Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, USA). Fluorescent probes, Rhodamine B 1,2-dihexadecanoyl-*sn*-glycero-3 phosphoethanolamine, triethylammonium salt (Rhod-DHPE) was purchased from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham , USA). Rho-DHPE molecules are mainly located in the DOPC-rich L_d phase. The LAs 2-(diethylamino)-*N*-(2,6-dimethylphenyl)acetamide (lidocaine) and 2-(dimethylamino)ethyl 4-(butylamino)benzoate (tetracaine) were purchased from Nacalai Tesque (Kyoto, Japan) and Tokyo Chemical Industry (Tokyo, Japan), respectively. Ultrapure water (specific resistance ≥ 18 M Ω) was obtained using a Millipore Milli-Q purification system. The chemical structures of the lipids and LAs are shown in Fig.3-1.





Fig.3-1 Chemical structures of lidocaine (a) and tetracaine (b), DOPC (c) and DPPC (d), cholesterol (e), Rhodamine-DHPE (f) respectively.

3-2-2. Preparation of liposomal solution for microscopic observation

Liposomes for microscopic observation were prepared by the natural swelling method. Lipids (DOPC, DPPC, Chol), LAs (lidocaine, tetracaine), and the fluorescent probe (Rhod-DHPE) were dissolved in chloroform, at concentrations of 2 mM, 0.5 mM, and 0.1 mM, respectively. The stock solutions were transferred into glass test tubes and mixed to the desired compositions. The organic solvent was evaporated under a flow of nitrogen gas, and the lipids were further dried under vacuum for least 3 h to form thin lipid films. The films were then hydrated overnight with Milli-Q water at 55 °C to produce unilamellar liposomes. The final concentrations of lipids and LAs were 0.2 mM, and that of Rhod-DHPE was 1 μ M.



Fig.3-2 Schematic of liposomal preparation for microscopic observation

3-2-3. Microscopic observation of phase separation on liposome

To observe the effects of LAs on phase separation by fluorescent microscopy, we added LAs to DOPC/DPPC lipid mixtures with a DOPC:DPPC ratio of 1:1, and to the DOPC/DPPC/Chol lipid mixtures with a DOPC:DPPC:Chol ratio of 2:2:1. Therefore, the compositions examined were DOPC/DPPC/LAs 50:50:0, 45:45:10, 40:40:20, and DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs 40:40:20:0, 36:36:18:10, and 32:32:16:20. The sample temperature was controlled using a microscope stage (MATS-555MORA-BU, Tokai hit) at 20–34 °C. We counted 30 liposomes in each composition at each temperature, and plotted the fraction of phase-separated liposomes. Based on the experimental plots, we calculated the miscibility temperature is defined as the temperature at which the fraction of phase-separated liposome reaches 50%. To obtain the miscibility temperature, the experimental results were fit with the sigmoidal Boltzmann function:

$$P = \frac{1}{1 + \exp[(T - T_{\rm mix})/dt]}, \quad -(1)$$

where *P* is the fraction of phase-separated liposomes, *T* is the temperature, T_{mix} is the miscibility temperature, and *dt* is the slope of the sigmoidal curve.

3-2-4 Line tension measurement by flicker spectroscopy of domain boundary fluctuation

We obtained the line tension from the domain boundary fluctuation of a liquid domain [33,34]. Domains were imaged for 1 sec at 30 frames per second. Traces of the domain boundary were obtained from binarized images using Image J. The radius from the center of mass of a domain r as a function of the polar angle γ was represented in terms of a Fourier series expansion,

$$r(\psi) = r_{\rm av} \left[1 + a_0 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} a_k \cos(k\psi) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_k \sin(k\psi) \right], \qquad -(2)$$

where r_{av} is the average domain radius, k is the mode number, and a_k , b_k are the Fourier coefficients. The excess free energy arises due to the fluctuation and is expressed as

$$\Delta F \simeq \frac{\pi r_{\rm av}}{2} \gamma \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} (k^2 - 1)(a_k^2 + b_k^2), \qquad -(3)$$

where γ is the line tension. The free energy for each independent mode becomes $k_{\rm B}T$ from the generalized equipartition theorem, where $k_{\rm B}$ is the Boltzmann constant. Therefore, we obtain the fitting equation,

$$\langle a_k^2 \rangle + \langle b_k^2 \rangle = \frac{2k_{\rm B}T}{\pi r_{\rm av}\gamma} \left(\frac{1}{k^2 - 1}\right), \qquad -(4)$$

where <...> means the average value of 30 images. The experimental data was fitted with Eq. (4) and we obtained the line tension γ .

3-2-5. Preparation of lipid/LA suspension for DSC experiment

Colloidal solutions for DSC experiment were prepared by natural swelling method and film peeling by ultrasonic wave (Fig.3-3). DPPC and Chol, LAs were dissolved in chloroform, and their concentrations were 300mM, 150mM, 150mM respectively, and conserved in the freezer (-20 °C). These solutions were taken into test tubes, and mixed at the desired composition to give a total volume of 60 μ l. The mixed solutions were dried under gentle blowing of nitrogen gas, and formed into lipid films. To evaporate all remaining solvent, samples were dried under vacuum for at least 3 hours. Dried lipid films were hydrated with Milli-Q water (60 μ l), and sonicated for 1 hour at least 1 time at 50-60 °C to make them peeled off from the bottom of the test tube. The final concentrations of lipids/LAs mixture in liposomal solution was 150mM. The examined compositions are DPPC/LAs=100:0,



Fig.3-3 Schematic of the colloid solution preparation process

97.5:2.5, 95:5, 92.5:7.5, 90:10 and DPPC/Chol/LAs=90:10:0, 87.75:9.75:2.5, 85.5:9.5:5, 83.25:9.25:7.5, 81:9:10.

3-2-6. DSC experiment

Thermographs were obtained by a DSC-822e (Mettler Toledo International Inc., Switzerland). 12~15 μ L of liposomal solutions were placed into aluminum sample pans after stirring by vortex mixer for over 30 s. We used sample pans filled with Milli-Q water as reference cells. The weight of the water was identical in both the reference and sample cells. Heating/cooling cycles were performed three times between 20 °C and 60 °C, and the third heating process is shown as a representative thermograph. Heating and cooling rates were set at 5 ° C / min. Each heating/cooling scan was started after a 3–5 min pre-scan incubation at 20/60 °C. All raw data were normalized by the weights of the samples. The same measurements were performed at least three times to ensure reproducibility of the data.We found some asymmetrical peaks at several compositions and they could be described as a linear combination of two independent transitions. An asymmetrical peak is expressed as a linear combination between two Lorentzian functions as shown in Fig.3-4.



Fig.3-4: An example for curve fitting. Black-solid and red-dashed lines indicate experimental data and calculated fitting curve, respectively. Yellow- and green-dashed lines are the curves for two independent transitions, and the sum of these curves corresponds to the calculated fitting curve (red-dashed line).

3-3. Result

3-3-1. Miscibility temperature measurement in LAs-containing lipid membranes

We observed the effects of LAs on the thermostability of phase-separated structures in multicomponent lipid membranes. First, we investigated the lipid mixtures consisting of DOPC/DPPC/LAs without Chol. In this experiment, we fixed the ratio of DOPC/DPPC to 1:1 and set the LA concentrations to 0%, 10%, and 20%. At lower temperatures, coexistence between the DOPC-rich L_d phase and DPPC-rich S_o phase was observed, as shown in Fig. 3 (a). Rhod-DHPE is localized in the L_d phase; the bright and dark regions correspond to the L_d and S_o phases, respectively. The anisotropic shape domains can be regarded as S_o domains. To examine the thermostability of phase-separated domains, we measured the fraction of phase-separated liposomes as the temperature increased. The results following the addition of lidocaine or tetracaine are shown in Fig. 3-5 (b) and (c), respectively. In all cases, the fractions of the phase-separated liposomes decreased as the temperature increased. This is because the mixing entropy becomes predominant at higher temperatures. The temperature at which the fraction of phase-separated liposomes reaches 50% is the miscibility temperature (T_{mix}) . To identify the miscibility temperature of each lipid mixture, we fit the experimental data with Eq. (1). The obtained miscibility temperatures were $T_{\text{mix}} = 33.1$ °C (control), 32.9 °C (lidocaine 10%), 32.1 °C (lidocaine 20%), 32.7 °C (tetracaine 10%), and 31.8 °C

(tetracaine 20%). We did not observe any significant changes in the miscibility temperatures after adding LAs. Therefore, S₀/L_d phase separation was not significantly affected by the LAs. Next, DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs lipid mixtures were investigated to gain an understanding of the effects of Chol and LAs on phase separation. We fixed the DOPC/DPPC/Chol ratio to 2:2:1 and set the LA concentrations to 0%, 10%, and 20%. In the presence of Chol, the S₀ phase transforms into the L₀ phase [17]. Therefore, L₀/L_d phase separation is observed in most of the liposomes at lower temperatures as shown in Fig. 3-5(d). Here, the bright and dark regions correspond to the L_d and L₀ phases, respectively. The miscibility temperatures were $T_{\text{mix}} = 27.7 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ (control), 26.6 °C (lidocaine 10%), 23.0 °C (lidocaine 20%), 23.2 °C (tetracaine 10%), and 21.6 °C (tetracaine 20%). Although we did not find any significant changes in the miscibility temperatures in DOPC/DPPC/LA systems without Chol, they clearly decreased as the LA concentrations increased in lipid mixtures with Chol. The reduction in miscibility temperature with tetracaine was greater than that with lidocaine.



Fig.3-5 Microscopic images of S_0/L_d (a), and L_0/L_d phase-separated liposomes. Fluctuation of phase separation of LA-added DOPC/DPPC (50/50 mol%) (b) (c) and DOPC/DPPC/Chol (40/40/20 mol%) (d) (e) in each temperature. Control in all systems are shown in black-circles, and LA added membranes are shown in colored triangles (LA 10 mol%) and square (LA 20 mol%). Lidocaine-added membranes are colored with orange and blue, and tetracaine-added membranes are colored
3-3-2. Line tension measurement at liquid domain boundary in LAscontaining lipid membranes

Line tension at the domain boundary is one of the most important factors to discuss the stability of phase-separated domains. Generally, the line tension at L_0 domain boundary is about ~3 pN [34]. In this subsection, we obtained the line tension at L_0 domain boundary in LA-containing lipid membranes by flicker spectroscopy of domain boundary fluctuation. We analyzed several images in which an isolated domain exists at the center of the liposome surface. Because this analysis calculates displacement from the circular shape, we ignore the non-circular shape domain as shown in Fig.3-6(a). The domain boundary fluctuation was imaged for 1 sec at 30 frames per second in Fig.3-6(a), the trace of domain boundary is obtained by image J as shown in Fig.3-6(b), the radial fluctuation is plotted in Fig.3-6(c), the power spectrum calculated from the radial fluctuation is shown in Fig.3-6(d), the averaged Fourier coefficients obtained from 30 images are plotted in Fig.3-6(e), and the line tension can be calculated from the slope of the plot with Eq.(4).



Fig.3-6 Analytical sequence of line tension at L_0/L_d boundary. (a) Sequential images of L_0 domain fluctuation on DOPC/DPPC/Chol membrane at 28 °C . (b) Traced outline of domain boundary determined by image banalization. (c) Radial fluctuation as a function of polar angle ψ . (d) Power spectrum calculated from (c). (e) Average Fourier coefficients obtained from 30 images plotted against $1/(k^2-1)$.

The obtained values of line tension are summarized in Fig.3-7. Without LAs, the line tension is about 3 pN at room temperature (20-22°C) and this value is in good agreement with that reported in the previous studies [34]. As the temperature is increased, the line tension is decreased just before the miscibility temperature. When the temperature is increased, and approaches the miscibility temperature, the composition difference between the coexisting two phases becomes smaller generally. Therefore, the line tension is reduced, since the differences in physical properties between the two phases (spontaneous curvature, membrane thickness, and chain ordering) becomes smaller. In the systems with LAs, we can see the same tendency. In particular, the line tension becomes smaller as compared with that obtained in the system without LAs. Moreover, the line tension is decreased in LA-concentration

manner. The line tension reduction for tetracaine-containing membranes is larger than that for lidocaine-containing membranes. This tendency is almost consistent with the result in the miscibility temperature measurement. This measurement clearly shows that LAs strongly decreases the line tension at L_0/L_d domain boundary. We will explain why LAs reduce the line tension in Discussion.



Fig.3-7 Line tension at the boundaries of L_0/L_d phase separation on LA-added DOPC/DPPC/Chol membranes. Circles with black lines show control system, and colored triangles and squares show LA 10 and 20 mol% added membranes. Orange and blue lines show lidocaine-added membranes (a), and red and green lines show tetracaine-added membranes (b). T_{mix} measured by microscopic observations are shown as colored arrows which are correspond to membranes labeled with same colored lines and markers.

3-3-3. DSC measurement in LAs-containing lipid membranes

Next, we discuss the effects of LAs on the thermostability of lipid membranes based on DSC. The representative thermographs for DPPC/LA mixtures are shown in Fig. 3-8. Sharp peaks can be seen at 42 °C that corresponded to the main transition of the lipids between solid (ripple) phase and liquid phase, and the broad peak at 37 °C corresponded to the pretransition state between the solid and ripple phases in the DPPC single component system without LAs, shown as black lines in Fig. 3-8 (a) and (b). This thermograph is consistent with some previous reports [17,21,22]. Since the pretransition peak disappears as the LA concentration increases, we focused on the main transition peak. When both lidocaine and tetracaine were present, the main transition peak shifted toward a lower temperature as the LA concentration increased. Interestingly, the shape of the peak became asymmetrical at lidocaine concentrations of 7.5% and tetracaine concentrations of 5%. We presumed that the asymmetrical peak could be described as a linear combination of two independent transitions. The results of peak deconvolution are shown in Fig. 3-8 (c)-(f). We expressed an asymmetrical peak as a linear combination between two Lorentzian functions. Figure 3-8 (c) and (d) show stronger peaks at higher temperatures, corresponding to the transitions of the DPPC-rich phase. On the other hand, the weaker peaks at lower temperatures, shown in Fig. 3-8 (e) and (f), correspond to the transition of the LA-rich phase. Therefore, as the concentration of the LA increased, some molecules could not dissolve in the DPPC membranes, which led to the formation of an LA-rich phase. This result implies a low affinity

between DPPC and LAs. Moreover, compared with lidocaine, tetracaine seemed to show lower affinity to DPPC.

We also performed DSC measurements for the mixtures of DPPC/Chol/LAs. The thermograph of the DPPC/Chol binary mixture without an LA is denoted by a black line in Fig. 3-9 (a) and (b). A clear peak can be seen around 41.5 °C. It has been reported that phase separation between S_o and L_o phases occurs at a DPPC/Chol ratio of 90:10 [34]. As per the DPPC/LA mixtures, we performed peak deconvolution based on a two-state transition; the strong and weak components are shown in Fig. 3-9 (c, d) and (e, f), respectively. These strong and weak peaks correspond to the DPPC-rich S_o and Chol-rich L_o phases, respectively [34]. In Fig. 3-9 (c) and (d), the stronger peaks shift toward a lower temperature as the LA concentration increased. This behavior resembles that of DPPC-rich phase in DPPC/LA binary mixtures, as indicated in Fig. 6. On the other hand, the positions of the weaker peaks were not significantly changed by the addition of LAs, as shown in Fig. 3-9 (e) and (f). In Fig. 3-10, we summarized the temperature shifts of both the strong and weak peaks. The temperature shift of the S_o phase in the DPPC/LA mixtures was almost identical to that of the S_o phase in the DPPC/Chol/LA mixtures. Since an LA-rich phase is formed in DPPC/LA mixtures, the S_o phase in DPPC/LAs can be considered an LA-poor phase. Therefore, we speculate that the S₀ phase in DPPC/Chol/LA mixtures also becomes a LA-poor phase. On the other hand, the clear LA-rich phase was not found in the DPPC/Chol/LA mixtures. In DPPC/Chol/LAs systems, we believe that large amounts of LAs are included in the L_o phase. We further discuss LA localization in heterogeneous membranes based on the DSC results in the Discussion.



Fig. 3-8 (a, b) Representative DSC thermographs of DPPC/lidocaine and DPPC/tetracaine membranes, respectively. Black, orange, blue, red, and green lines indicate LA at 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, and 10 mol %, respectively. (c, d) Stronger peaks obtained from peak deconvolution in the DPPC/lidocaine and DPPC/tetracaine membranes, respectively. (e, f) Weaker peaks obtained from peak deconvolution in DPPC/lidocaine and DPPC/tetracaine membranes, respectively. Since the peak shape is almost symmetrical for lidocaine below 5 mol % and tetracaine below 2.5 mol %, we did not perform peak deconvolution in (c, d, e, or f).



Fig. 3-9 (a, b) Representative DSC thermographs of DPPC/Chol/lidocaine and DPPC/Chol/tetracaine membranes, respectively. Black, orange, blue, red, and green lines indicate LA at 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, and 10 mol %, respectively. (c, d) Stronger peaks obtained from peak deconvolution in DPPC/Chol/lidocaine and DPPC/Chol/tetracaine membranes, respectively. (e, f) Weaker peaks obtained from peak deconvolution in DPPC/Chol/lidocaine and DPPC/Chol/tetracaine membranes, respectively. Insets show magnifications of the peaks.



Fig.3-10 (a) The shifts of peak temperatures obtained from the peak deconvolution of the DSC thermographs in DPPC/LAs mixtures as a function of LA concentration. Blue and red lines represent lidocaine and tetracaine-containing membranes, respectively. Solid and dashed lines indicate the temperature shifts of the stronger peak (S_0 phase) and the weaker peak (LA-rich phase), respectively. (b) The shifts of peak temperatures obtained from the peak deconvolution of the DSC thermographs in DPPC/Chol/LAs mixtures as a function of LA concentration. Blue and red lines represent lidocaine and tetracaine-containing membranes, respectively. Solid and dot-dashed lines indicate the temperature shifts of the stronger peak (S_0 phase) and the weaker peak (L_0 phase), respectively.

3-4. Discussion

Microscopic observation revealed that the miscibility temperature (T_{mix}) of the phaseseparated structures on DOPC/DPPC membranes was not changed significantly by adding LAs (Fig. 3-5 (b) and (c)). Furthermore, according to the results of the DSC experiment on DPPC/LA mixtures, an LA-rich phase was formed at higher concentrations of LAs (Fig. 3-8 (a) and (b)), which suggests low affinity between DPPC and LAs. Therefore, most LA molecules can be partitioned into DOPC-rich L_d phases in DOPC/DPPC/LAs membranes. LAs did not impart any crucial effects on the DPPC-rich S_o phase, and the miscibility temperature in DOPC/DPPC/LA mixtures was not shifted by them.

On the other hand, as the concentrations of LAs increased, the miscibility temperatures for DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs lipid membranes decreased and the thermostability of the L_0 phase was lowered (Fig. 3-5(e) and (f)). From the results of the DSC experiments, the shift in the peak temperature of the S₀ phase in the DPPC/LA mixtures was almost identical to that of the S₀ phase in the DPPC/Chol/LA mixtures (Fig. 3-10). Therefore, we can consider that the amounts of LAs in both S₀ phases were almost the same. The DSC results for the DPPC/LA mixtures indicated that the S₀ phase corresponded to the LA-poor phase. Based on this finding, the S₀ phase for DPPC/Chol/LA mixtures can be also regarded as the LA-poor phase. In addition, we could not find a clear LA-rich phase among the DPPC/Chol/LA mixtures. Therefore, a large amount of LA molecules may be included in the L₀ phase in these lipid mixtures. This implies that the presence of Chol promotes the partitioning of LAs. Although a large amount of LAs may have been partitioned into the DOPC-rich L_d phase in

DOPC/DPPC/Chol/LAs membranes, some was included in the L_0 phase. The LA molecules in the L_0 phase decreased the thermostability significantly. We can think of two mechanisms that explain why the presence of Chol enhances the partitioning of LAs into L_0 phase. First, the DPPC-rich phase transitions to the liquid phase from the solid phase in the presence of Chol. Therefore, LA can be partitioned into the L_0 phase, because Chol loosens the packing between the DPPC molecules. This hypothesis indicates that Chol promotes the partitioning of LAs into L_0 phase indirectly. Second hypothesis is a direct attraction between LAs and Chol. Because LAs and Chol are hydrophobic molecules, they are buried in the hydrophobic region of lipid membranes and may directly interact each other. This mechanism could be revealed by a future NMR study.

The distribution of LAs into the L_o phase is also supported by the line tension measurements. The LAs decreased the line tension at the L_o/L_d domain boundary in DOPC/DPPC/Chol membranes (Fig. 3-7). Some studies have mentioned that the additive molecules adsorb onto the domain interface and reduce line tension [35–40]. Such molecules are called ``linactant" based on an analogy to surfactant [38]. Although the line energy at the domain boundary is decreased by the adsorption of linactants, entropic loss arises instead of line energy gain. Therefore, it is difficult for a molecule to be a linactant, because it would have to possess a structure with an affinity for both coexisting phases. Since the LAs used in this study do not seem to have such structures (see Fig.3-1), they may not be linactants. Therefore, we think that some LAs are incorporated within the L_o phase, as mentioned above. As a result, the chain ordering of the L_o phase is disturbed by the presence of LAs. The differences in physical properties between the two coexisting phases (spontaneous curvature, membrane thickness, chain ordering) becomes smaller, which decreases the line tension. This mechanism was indicated by electron spin resonance [41], and Laurdan generalized the polarization measurements among different lipid mixtures [42]. On the other hand, according to our DSC experiments, the transition temperatures of lipids in the L_o phase were not significantly changed by adding LAs. A similar tendency has been reported in some other studies [24,27]. However, it is important to investigate the relationship between chain ordering and transition temperature in future studies.

Tetracaine showed more significant effects than lidocaine on the physical properties of the lipid membranes, such as miscibility temperature, line tension at the L_0/L_d interface, and main transition temperature. These findings are consistent with the results of a previous study, which reported that tetracaine suppresses phase separation at room temperature more strongly than lidocaine [25]. Moreover, Paiva et al. showed that tetracaine has a stronger effect than lidocaine on the transition temperature of raft-mimetic membranes [23]. Generally, tetracaine is a more powerful and toxic LA than lidocaine [43]. In other words, tetracaine shows anesthetic and cytotoxic effects at lower concentrations than lidocaine. Thus, from these results, the potencies of the LAs and suppression of phase separation may be associated. Furthermore, *n*-alcohol general anesthetics are reported to correlate with pharmacological strength and membrane phase behavior [28]. As the length of the hydrocarbon tail of alcohol becomes longer, the lipid transition temperature decreases and the strength of the anesthesia becomes stronger. Therefore, increased hydrophobicity leads to increased anesthetic action. Moreover, an LA oil/water partitioning experiment showed that the action of the anesthetic and the molecular hydrophobicity are correlated [44]. On the other hand, we suggested the

importance of the affinity between the L_0 phase and LAs. Thus, the relationship between the molecular hydrophobicity of LAs and anesthetic action based on the stability of the L_0 phase on the addition of LAs should be evaluated in future studies by NMR investigation of the interactions between LAs and the L_0 phase.

Since the large part of LAs is hydrophobic, we discussed the phase behavior based on the hydrophobic interaction between lipid membranes and LAs. LAs are medically used as chloride salts to increase the water solubility. Although LAs were included in lipid membranes directly in our study, LAs were added to lipid membranes by dissolving them in water phase in some studies [33]. However, because the experimental results about the main transition temperature shift and phase behavior are almost consistent with our study, the behavior of charged LAs is similar to that of uncharged LAs. Therefore, we believe that the hydrophobic interaction between LAs and lipid membranes is the most important factor. Moreover, in actual living cells, the electric charges on LAs are well screened by many kinds of cations in the vicinity of cell membranes, and the effect of electric charges on LAs may be negligible. On the other hand, some studies mentioned about the importance of electric charges on the phase separation in multicomponent lipid membranes [45]. The studies on the hydrogen bonding between LAs and phospholipid and the effect of LAs on the hydration water near the surface of LAs-containing lipid membrane as well as the electric charge of LAs will be important in near future.

We showed that the raft-mimicking structure (L_o phase) is destabilized by adding LAs. If raft domains are also destabilized by LAs in the cell membranes, the sodium ion channel proteins present may be strongly affected. Voltage-dependent sodium channels form gate structures that allow selective permeation of specific cations by subunits in the structure-forming multimers [46]. The gate structure is controlled by miniscule structural changes in the proteins of well organized subunits. If the raft structure is altered by LAs, the order, structure, and movement of the subunits forming the gate structure may be impaired. In fact, Brohawn *et al.* found that the function of ion channels placed in membranes isolated from cells can be controlled by external pressure achieved by poking the membranes with a glass capillary [12]. The application of external pressure to membranes is known to change the phase behavior [47], and impact the anesthetic dose. Therefore, the membrane proteins in raft domains are influenced by changes in the physical properties of the membranes, such as rigidity, thickness, fluidity, and phase. Future studies should investigate the mechanisms controlling channel activities via changes in the phase state of the membranes.

References

1. Becker, D. E.; Reed, K. L. Local anesthetics: review of pharmacological considerations. Anesth. Prog. 2012, 59, 90-101–3, 10.2344/0003-3006-59.2.90, http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3403589&tool=pmcentrez &rendertype=abstract.

2. Ragsdale, D. S.; McPhee, J. C.; Scheuer, T.; Catterall, W. A. Common molecular determinants of local anesthetic, antiarrhythmic, and anticonvulsant block of voltagegated Na+ channels. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 1996, 93, 9270–9275,

10.1073/pnas.93.17.9270,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8799190%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih.g ov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC38631.

3. Scholz, A. Mechanisms of (local) anaesthetics on voltage-gated sodium and other ion channels. Br. J. Anaesth. 2002, 89, 52–61, 10.1093/bja/aef163,.

4. Boiteux, C.; Vorobyov, I.; French, R. J.; French, C.; Yarov-Yarovoy, V.; Allen, T. W. Local anesthetic and antiepileptic drug access and binding to a bacterial voltage-gated sodium channel. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2014, 111, 2–7, 10.1073/pnas.1408710111, http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1408710111.

5. Catterall, W. a From Ionic Currents to Molecular Mechanisms : The Structure and Function of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels. Neuron 2000, 26, 13–25, 10.1016/S0896-6273(00)81133-2,.

6. Tsuchiya, H.; Mizogami, M. Interaction of local anesthetics with biomembranes consisting of phospholipids and cholesterol: Mechanistic and clinical implications for anesthetic and cardiotoxic effects. Anesthesiol. Res. Pract. 2013, 2013,

10.1155/2013/297141,.

7. Komai, H.; McDowell, T. S. Differential effects of bupivacaine and tetracaine on capsaicin-induced currents in dorsal root ganglion neurons. Neurosci. Lett. 2005, 380, 21–25, 10.1016/j.neulet.2005.01.004,.

8. Tateuchi, R.; Sagawa, N.; Shimada, Y.; Goto, S. Enhancement of the 1-Octanol/Water Partition Coefficient of the Anti-Inflammatory Indomethacin in the Presence of Lidocaine and Other Local Anesthetics. J. Phys. Chem. B 2015, 119, 9868– 9873, 10.1021/acs.jpcb.5b03984,.

9. de Paula, E.; Schreier, S.; Jarrell, H. C.; Fraceto, L. F. Preferential location of lidocaine and etidocaine in lecithin bilayers as determined by EPR, fluorescence and 2H NMR. Biophys. Chem. 2008, 132, 47–54, 10.1016/j.bpc.2007.10.004,.

10. Weizenmann, N.; Huster, D.; Scheidt, H. a. Interaction of local anesthetics with lipid bilayers investigated by 1H MAS NMR spectroscopy. Biochim. Biophys. Acta -Biomembr. 2012, 1818, 3010–3018, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.07.014,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.07.014.

11. Booth, P. J.; Riley, M. L.; Flitsch, S. L.; Templer, R. H.; Farooq, A.; Curran, A. R.; Chadborn, N.; Wright, P. Evidence that bilayer bending rigidity affects membrane protein folding. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 197–203, 10.1021/bi962200m,. 12. Brohawn, S. G.; Su, Z.; MacKinnon, R. Mechanosensitivity is mediated directly by the lipid membrane in TRAAK and TREK1 K+ channels. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2014, 111, 3614–3619, 10.1073/pnas.1320768111,

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1320768111.

13. Marsh, M.; McMahon, H. T. The structural era of endocytosis. Science (80-.). 1999, 285, 215–220, 10.1126/science.285.5425.215,.

14. Simons, K.; Ikonen, E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. Nature 1997, 387, 569– 572, http://www.nature.com/articles/42408.

15. Simons, K.; Sampaio, J. L. Membrane Organization and Lipid Rafts. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2011, 3, a004697–a004697, 10.1101/cshperspect.a004697,.

16. Pristerà, A.; Baker, M. D.; Okuse, K. Association between tetrodotoxin resistant channels and lipid rafts regulates sensory neuron excitability. PLoS One 2012, 7, 10.1371/journal.pone.0040079,.

17. Morales-Penningston, N. F.; Wu, J.; Farkas, E. R.; Goh, S. L.; Konyakhina, T. M.;
Zheng, J. Y.; Webb, W. W.; Feigenson, G. W. GUV preparation and imaging:
Minimizing artifacts. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 2010, 1798, 1324–1332,
10.1016/j.bbamem.2010.03.011,

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0005273610001100.

18. Ahmed, S. N.; Brown, D. A.; London, E. On the origin of sphingolipid/cholesterolrich detergent-insoluble cell membranes: Physiological concentrations of cholesterol and sphingolipid induce formation of a detergent-insoluble, liquid-ordered lipid phase in model membranes. Biochemistry 1997, 36, 10944–10953, 10.1021/bi971167g,. **19. Heberle, F. A.; Feigenson, G. W. Phase Separation in Lipid Membranes. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.**

20. Veatch, S. L.; Keller, S. L. Separation of liquid phases in giant vesicles of ternary mixtures of phospholipids and cholesterol. Biophys. J. 2003, 85, 3074–83, 10.1016/S0006-3495(03)74726-2,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14581208%5Cnhttp://www.pubmedcentral.nih. gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=PMC1303584.

21. Veatch, S. L.; Keller, S. L. Seeing spots: Complex phase behavior in simple membranes. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Mol. Cell Res. 2005, 1746, 172–185, 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2005.06.010,.

22. Feigenson, G. W. Phase diagrams and lipid domains in multicomponent lipid bilayer mixtures. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 2009, 1788, 47–52,

10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.08.014, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2008.08.014.

23. Paiva, J. G.; Paradiso, P.; Serro, A. P.; Fernandes, A.; Saramago, B. Interaction of local and general anaesthetics with liposomal membrane models: A QCM-D and DSC study. Colloids Surfaces B Biointerfaces 2012, 95, 65–74,

10.1016/j.colsurfb.2012.02.027, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2012.02.027.

24. Serro, a. P.; Galante, R.; Kozica, a.; Paradiso, P.; da Silva, a. M. P. S. G.;

Luzyanin, K. V.; Fernandes, a. C.; Saramago, B. Effect of tetracaine on DMPC and

DMPC + cholesterol biomembrane models: Liposomes and monolayers. Colloids

Surfaces B Biointerfaces 2014, 116, 63–71, 10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.12.042,.

25. Sugahara, K.; Shimokawa, N.; Takagi, M. Destabilization of phase-separated structures in local anesthetic-containing model biomembranes. Chem. Lett. 2015, 9–11, 10.1246/cl.150636,

https://www.jstage.jst.go.jp/article/cl/advpub/0/advpub_150636/_article.

26. Arai, Y. C. P.; Ikeuchi, M.; Fukunaga, K.; Ueda, W.; Kimura, T.; Komatsu, T. Intra-articular injection of warmed lidocaine improves intraoperative anaesthetic and postoperative analgesic conditions. Br. J. Anaesth. 2006, 96, 259–261, 10.1093/bja/aei292,.

27. Bandeiras, C.; Serro, A. P.; Luzyanin, K.; Fernandes, A.; Saramago, B. Anesthetics interacting with lipid rafts. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 2013, 48, 153–165,

10.1016/j.ejps.2012.10.023,.

28. Gray, E.; Karslake, J.; Machta, B. B.; Veatch, S. L. Liquid general anesthetics lower critical temperatures in plasma membrane vesicles. Biophys. J. 2013, 105, 2751– 2759, 10.1016/j.bpj.2013.11.005, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2013.11.005.

29. Esposito, C.; Tian, A.; Melamed, S.; Johnson, C.; Tee, S.-Y.; Baumgart, T. Flicker spectroscopy of thermal lipid bilayer domain boundary fluctuations. Biophys. J. 2007, 93, 3169–81, 10.1529/biophysj.107.111922,

http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2025670&tool=pmcentrez &rendertype=abstract.

30. Stottrup, B. L.; Heussler, A. M.; Bibelnieks, T. A. Determination of line tension in lipid monolayers by Fourier analysis of capillary waves. J. Phys. Chem. B 2007, 111, 11091–4, 10.1021/jp074898r, http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/jp074898r. 31. Tian, A.; Johnson, C.; Wang, W.; Baumgart, T. Line tension at fluid membrane domain boundaries measured by micropipette aspiration. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2007, 98, 18–21, 10.1103/PhysRevLett.98.208102,.

32. Shimokawa, N.; Mukai, R.; Nagata, M.; Takagi, M. Formation of modulated phase and domain rigidification in fatty acids-containing lipid membranes. Phys. Chem.

Chem. Phys. 2017, 19, 13252-1326310.1039/C7CP01201B,

http://pubs.rsc.org/en/Content/ArticleLanding/2017/CP/C7CP01201B.

33. Yoshida, K.; Takashima, A.; Nishio, I. Effect of dibucaine hydrochloride on raftlike lipid domains in model membrane systems. Medchemcomm 2015, 6, 1444–1451, 10.1039/C5MD00108K, http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/C5MD00108K.

34. Hancock, J. F. Lipid rafts: contentious only from simplistic standpoints. Nat. Rev.

Mol. Cell Biol. 2006, 7, 456–462, 10.1038/nrm1925,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2782566/.

35. Konyakhina, T. M.; Goh, S. L.; Amazon, J.; Heberle, F. A.; Wu, J.; Feigenson, G.

W. Control of a nanoscopic-to-macroscopic transition: Modulated phases in four-

component DSPC/DOPC/POPC/Chol giant unilamellar vesicles. Biophys. J. 2011, 101,

L8–L10, 10.1016/j.bpj.2011.06.019, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2011.06.019.

36. Goh, S. L.; Amazon, J. J.; Feigenson, G. W. Toward a better raft model:

Modulated phases in the four-component bilayer, DSPC/DOPC/POPC/CHOL.

Biophys. J. 2013, 104, 853–862, 10.1016/j.bpj.2013.01.003,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2013.01.003.

37. Konyakhina, T. M.; Wu, J.; Mastroianni, J. D.; Heberle, F. A.; Feigenson, G. W. Phase diagram of a 4-component lipid mixture: DSPC/DOPC/POPC/chol. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 2013, 1828, 2204–2214, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.05.020, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2013.05.020.

38. Trabelsi, S.; Zhang, S.; Lee, T. R.; Schwartz, D. K. Linactants: Surfactant analogues in two dimensions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2008, 100, 2–5,

10.1103/PhysRevLett.100.037802,.

39. Sriram, I.; Singhana, B.; Lee, T. R.; Schwartz, D. K. Line tension and line activity in mixed monolayers composed of aliphatic and terphenyl-containing surfactants. Langmuir 2012, 28, 16294–16299, 10.1021/la303735r,.

40. Brewster, R.; Pincus, P. A.; Safran, S. A. Hybrid lipids as a biological surfaceactive component. Biophys. J. 2009, 97, 1087–1094, 10.1016/j.bpj.2009.05.051, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2009.05.051.

41. Georgieva, R.; Chachaty, C.; Hazarosova, R.; Tessier, C.; Nuss, P.; Momchilova,

A.; Staneva, G. Docosahexaenoic acid promotes micron scale liquid-ordered domains.

A comparison study of docosahexaenoic versus oleic acid containing

phosphatidylcholine in raft-like mixtures. Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Biomembr. 2015,

1848, 1424–1435, 10.1016/j.bbamem.2015.02.027,

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2015.02.027.

42. Shimokawa, N.; Nagata, M.; Takagi, M. Physical properties of the hybrid lipid POPC on micrometer-sized domains in mixed lipid membranes. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2015, 17, 20882–20888, 10.1039/C5CP03377B, http://pubs.rsc.org/en/content/articlelanding/2015/cp/c5cp03377b%5Cnhttp://pubs.rsc .org/en/content/articlelanding/2015/cp/c5cp03377b/unauth#!divAbstract.

43. Onizuka, S.; Yonaha, T.; Tsuneyoshi, I. Local anesthetics with high lipophilicity are toxic, while local anesthetics with low pka induce more apoptosis in human leukemia cells. J. Anesth. Clin. Res. 2011, 2, 1–5, 10.4172/2155-6148.1000116,.

44. Strichartz, G. R.; Sanchez, V.; Arthur, G. R.; Chafetz, R.; Martin, D. Fundamental properties of local anesthetics. II. Measured octanol:buffer partition coefficients and pKa values of clinically used drugs. Anesth. Analg. 1990, 71, 158–70,

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2375517.

45. Himeno, H.; Shimokawa, N.; Komura, S.; Andelman, D.; Hamada, T.; Takagi, M. Charge-induced phase separation in lipid membranes. Soft Matter 2014, 10, 7959– 7967, 10.1039/C4SM01089B, http://xlink.rsc.org/?DOI=C4SM01089B.

46. Catterall, W. A. Structure and Function of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels at Atomic Resolution. Exp Physiol 2014, 99, 1–26,

10.1113/expphysiol.2013.071969.Structure,.

47. McCarthy, N. L. C.; Brooks, N. J. Using High Pressure to Modulate Lateral Structuring in Model Lipid Membranes; 1st ed.; Elsevier Inc., 2016; Vol. 24. **Chapter.4: General conclusion and future perspective**

4-1. General conclusion

Through our study, we investigated the effect of LAs presence on phase-separated structure in biomimetic membrane composed with unsaturated phospholipid (DOPC), saturate phospholipid (DPPC), and cholesterol (Chol). Especially, the phase separation on DOPC/DPPC/Chol membrane, which has been regarded as raft-mimetic structure, was destabilized by presence of LAs. We discussed the reasons for destabilization of phase separation by measurement of membrane fluidity and line tension on phase boundaries.

In chaptor.2, initially, we observed formation of phase separation on LAs presented DOPC/DPPC (solid ordered: S_o /liquid disordered: L_d), and DOPC/DPPC/Chol (liquid ordered: L_o/L_d) membranes. This experiment revealed that the presence of LAs suppressed L_o/L_d phase separation in DOPC/DPPC/Chol. On the other hand, S_o/L_d phase separation on DOPC/DPPC liposome was not influenced by LAs. We also clarified the fluidity decrease of DOPC-rich region (L_d) in DOPC/DPPC/Chol liposomes by presence of LAs. Fluidity decrease of L_d phase should make the fluidity difference between DOPC-rich phase and DPPC/Chol-rich phase. This action of LAs should decrease the line energy between L_o and L_d phases, and suppressed phase separation.

In chapter.3, we observed decrease of miscibility temperature of L_o/L_d phase separation in DOPC/DPPC/Chol membrane. Furthermore, based on image analysis, we revealed the line tension decrease at L_o/L_d phase boundary of LA added DOPC/DPPC/Chol liposomes. On the other hand miscibility temperature of S_o/L_d phase separation in DOPC/DPPC liposomes was not influenced by LAs. Finally, we performed Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)

experiments with LA added DPPC and DPPC/Chol membrane to discuss the effect on membrane thermal-stability and localization of LAs in multi-lipid liposomes. Through the DSC experiment with DPPC membrane, addition of LAs decreased the transition temperature of both S_0 and L_0 membranes in concentration dependent manner. At the same time, in the experiment of DPPC (S_0) membrane with higher LA concentration (5~10 mol%), we observed the shoulder on the lower temperature side on the thermal peaks. On the other hand, we could not observe similar asymmetric shoulder of thermal peaks on DPPC/Chol (S_0/L_0 coexist) membranes despite the presence of higher LAs concentration. This phenomena indicates relatively stronger affinity of LAs with L_0 phase rather than with S_0 phase. Therefore, we discussed localization LAs into DPPC-rich region was enhanced by the contribution of Chol. This localization change of LAs result into decrease of the line tension on phase-boundary, and finally destabilized phase-separated structure.

Interestingly in result of any experiments, relatively stronger and more hydrophobic LA: tetracaine shown stronger impact to expressed membrane properties rather than presence of lidocaine. This fact indicates correlation between LA function and phase behavior of biomembrane. Lacking of heterogeneity on membranes could change various membrane properties like membrane thickness, bending or expansion rigidities, spontaneous curvature, etc. These physical property changes can effect on gaiting or binding abilities of membrane proteins such as ion-channels. Our results are suggesting some correlation between raft destabilization and protein disordering by LAs.

4-2. Future perspective

Our study revealed the destabilization of raft-mimetic structure due to the interaction between LAs. This fact suggested some correlation between physical property change biomembrane and function of LAs. However, we cannot explain all the relation between the action of LA and membrane dynamics from results of our research.

For example, Local anesthetics still have many toxicities and side effects whose mechanisms are not yet clear. Overdose of LA is known to cause painlessness due to cytotoxicity on nerve, allergic reactions, liver dysfunction etc.[1,2], so careful administration by professional technicians is required. Interestingly, it is known that these side effects of local anesthetics are related to the hydrophobicity of each reagent as well as the strength of their pharmacological function [3]. In addition, these toxicities are known to occur on metabolic pathways due to the up taking of LAs into cells. Upon uptake of foreign molecules into cells, biological membranes are involved via vesicular transport [4,5]. Our study also showed an association between the hydrophobicity of the LAs and their impacts on the raft-mimetic structure. It has been shown that the raft structure is involved in molecular transport into cells via endocytosis and the like [6–8]. According to this fact, it is no wonder that the localization of LAs to the biomembrane and the raft structure thereon indirectly leads to toxicity. Therefore, in the future, it is necessary to investigate the relation between up taking of LAs and biomembrane interaction.

First, we examine the influence of local anesthetic addition to actual cells on dynamics such as endocytosis caused by biological membranes with microscopic observation. We study the effect of LAs on cellular endocytic mechanism by labeling ganglioside GM1 which accumulate in lipid raft [9,10] and tracing its behavior. It has also been found that even on biomimetic membranes, dynamics similar to endocytosis can be induced by the application of osmotic pressure and the surfactant: Triton X-100 [11]. By considering the influence of LAs on dynamics of biomimetic membrane in this way, contribution of LAs can be discussed from the physical aspect. In addition, we will analyze the effect of addition of local anesthetic on cell viability using flow cytometry and consider the relationship between cytotoxicity of LAs.

Furthermore, through our study, correlation between function of membrane protein and membrane dynamics induced by LAs is still unclear. Various signals traveling through the living species such as pain signals are controlled by ionic and cationic cross-membrane flow via the ion channel [12–14]. Structures and functions of these channel proteins were controlled by extremely slight of change of the order and movement of their sub-units [13,15]. Thus, function of channel proteins could be influenced by change of membrane properties, such as its components or fluidity etc., due to the interaction between LAs as we revealed. In fact, Brown *et al.* revealed the function of membrane proteins were influenced by kinetical stimulus conducted through lipid membranes [16]. On the other hand, Booth *et al.* shown the membrane rigidity was influenced on the folding of membrane protein [17]. Thus, the properties of the biomembrane and the stimulation transmitted thereon are related to the structure and function of the membrane protein. Therefore, it is necessary to focus on the protein function and membrane behaviors.

Therefore, for future plan we would like to reveal the effects of physical property change of biomembrane on function of artificial ion-channel which have no binding site for LAs. Furthermore, we need to consider the possibilities of ion-pathways without channel proteins. For examples, we can assume the ion-pathway through the membrane pore formed by application of surfactants or ions [18], and path way via the flip-flop of charged-lipid due to the adsorption on their head groups [19]. Since these membrane pore formation and lipid flip-flop are affected by the rigidity or fluidity of the lipid membrane. Therefore, if formation and ion flow can be clarified using liposomes, it is possible to greatly contribute to elucidation of signal transduction. Therefore, experiments with handling liposomal membranes can give great advance on understanding of correlation between biomembrane and signal transduction.

There is some difficulty to observe the cross-membrane ion-current through liposomal experiment. Therefore, we are planning to handle the membrane potential sensitive fluorescent probe to observe ion-current pass through lipid membrane [20,21]. By this study, we aim to clarify the flow of ions that ultimately dominates signal transmission as well as pain, from the relationship between membrane properties and ion flow.

Firstly, an electrically neutral unsaturated lipid dioleoylphosphatidylcholine (DOPC) and a negatively charged unsaturated lipid dioleoylphosphatidylglycerol (DOPG) will be used for lipids, and NaCl, KCl will be used as salt. When different solutions are used inside or outside the liposome, a solution is prepared using an osmometer so that the liposome is not deformed osmotically. Membrane potential is revealed using di-4-ANEPPS using fluorescence spectrophotometer, fluorescence microscope observation. By using the same salt solution

inside and outside the liposome, the lipid composition is gradually changed from DOPC: DOPG = 10: 0 to 0: 10 to clarify how the static membrane potential changes due to the presence of negatively charged lipid. In addition, by using asymmetric liposome preparation method [22], liposomes whose inner-leaflet are composed with unevenly distributed negatively charged lipids are prepared. By this method, we can generate the liposome which has membrane potential arbitrarily. We are planning to Measure the membrane potential of asymmetric liposomes made in this way, and we also planned to measure the membrane potential when lipid composition or solution salt are changed. Additionally, we are planning to observe the redistribution of membrane potential by flip-flop after standing those membrane for long time.

For next, even in a ternary system having a phase separation structure of neutral saturated lipid dipalmitoylphosphatidylcholine (DPPC), DOPC, Chol, the rest membrane potential will be clarified in various solution conditions and addition of an anesthetic agent. After clarifying the resting membrane potential under each condition, add stimulus and follow the change in potential. As a stimulus, we are planning to add (a) KCl from the outside of the liposome as a model when cells ruptured, (b) the surfactant Triton X-100 as an irritating molecule, and (c) surfactant Tween 20 known as nonirritant to the skin as a negative control [11]. Membrane deformation and change of its potential will be observed in real time with fluorescence microscope when each stimulus are applied. When direct observation with a microscope is difficult, change in membrane potential is quantified by spectroscopic measurement.

Finally, we are planning to perform similar experiment with using the liposome with artificial ion-channel. The research team of Prof. Kimbara, the collaborator of our Lab. in

Tokyo Institute of Technology, had developed the artificial ion-channel that can activate by binding with ligand molecule (2-phenethylamine: PA) [23]. This channel has no specific binding site for LAs. Thus, change of its function due to the application of LAs can be regarded as a result of property change of membrane. First of all, we need to measure resting potential of liposomes with ion-channel. After that, we will add ligand molecules to activate the channels, and measure the membrane potential. Additionally, by adding LAs, we can clarify the contribution of LA application to the behavior of ion channel. Especially, within the membrane system with raft-mimetic structure (phase-separation), we will simultaneously discuss their localization of ion channel on the membrane. We can trace the localization of ion channel because their structure have fluorescence parts. By handling florescence microscope, we are planning to analyze localization change of ion channels due to the interaction between membrane and LAs. Additionally, we are planning to analyze behavior change of ion channel in each different lipid composition, solution, and especially LA application. Cross-membrane permeability of cation can be measured by measurement of fluorescent intensity of di-4-ANNEPS. We are planning to observe changes of cation permeability by the application of LAs. Furthermore, we are also planning to observe cataion permeability of actual ion-channel proteins buried in LA applied membranes. Recently, various of ion-channel proteins modified with green fluorescent protein (GFP) were developed, and used to detect their expression and localization on neural cells [24-27]. We are also planning to observe the influence of membrane physical property change on the function and localization of these channel by measuring membrane potential.

Through these studies, we plan to further discuss the relationship between membrane physical properties and signal transduction in the future.

Acknowledgment

The studies in this thesis have been done at School of Materials Science in Japan Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (JAIST).

I would like to thank Prof. Masahiro Takagi (JAIST) who gave me helpful comments and encouragements. I have learned basic attitude and way of thinking of science from him. I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Naofumi Shimokawa (JAIST) for fruitful discussion and constructive advice, and technical support. I also thank to members of Masahiro Takagi lab. I want to thank my Lab. members for their kindness support to creating a good environment for studying. I would like to thank Prof. Wu (University of Rochester) and his Lab. members who supported my sub-theme, and gave me a wonderful time in USA.

Finally, I would like to express deepest appreciation to my friend in Japan and USA, and my dear family.

Reference

1. Monti, M.; Monti, A.; Borgognoni, F.; Vincentelli, G. M.; Paoletti, F. Treatment with lipid therapy to resuscitate a patient suffering from toxicity due to local anesthetics. *Emerg. Care J.* 2014, *10*, 0–3, 10.4081/ecj.2014.1820, http://www.pagepressjournals.org/index.php/ecj/article/view/ecj.2014.1820.

2. Mulroy, M. F. Systemic toxicity and cardiotoxicity from local anesthetics: Incidence and preventive measures. *Reg. Anesth. Pain Med.* 2002, *27*, 556–561, 10.1053/rapm.2002.37127,.

3. Tsuchiya, H.; Mizogami, M. Interaction of local anesthetics with biomembranes consisting of phospholipids and cholesterol: Mechanistic and clinical implications for anesthetic and cardiotoxic effects. *Anesthesiol. Res. Pract.* 2013, *2013*, 10.1155/2013/297141,.

4. Marsh, M.; McMahon, H. T. The structural era of endocytosis. *Science (80-.).* 1999, 285, 215–220, 10.1126/science.285.5425.215,.

5. Tolis, G.; Kuchel, O. The multiple faces of the pheochromocytoma. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 1977, *116*, 337–338, 10.1038/nrm2122,.

6. Simons, K.; Ikonen, E. Functional rafts in cell membranes. *Nature* 1997, *387*, 569–72, 10.1038/42408, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9177342.

7. Eriksson, M.; Taskinen, M.; Leppä, S. Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase-Dependent Activation of c-Jun and c-Fos is required for Neuronal differentiation but not for Growth and Stress Reposne in PC12 cells. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 2006, *207*, 12–22, 10.1002/JCP,.

8. Hanzal-Bayer, M. F.; Hancock, J. F. Lipid rafts and membrane traffic. *FEBS Lett.*2007, 581, 2098–2104, 10.1016/j.febslet.2007.03.019, http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0014579307002736.

9. Singer, S. J. J.; Nicolson, G. L. L. The fluid mosaic model of the structure of cell membranes. *Science (80-.).* 1972, *175*, 720–731, 10.1126/science.175.4023.720,.

10. Rajendran, L.; Simons, K. Lipid rafts and membrane dynamics. *J. Cell Sci.* 2005, *118*, 1099–1102, 10.1242/jcs.01681,.

11. Hamada, T.; Miura, Y.; Ishii, K. I.; Araki, S.; Yoshikawa, K.; Vestergaard, M.; Takagi, M. Dynamic processes in endocytic transformation of a raft-exhibiting giant liposome. *J. Phys. Chem. B* 2007, *111*, 10853–10857, 10.1021/jp075412,.

12. Evolution | Learn Science at Scitable.

13. Jentsch, T. J.; Hübner, C. A.; Fuhrmann, J. C. Ion channels: function unravelled by dysfunction. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2004, *6*, 1039–1047, 10.1038/ncb1104-1039, http://www.nature.com/doifinder/10.1038/ncb1104-

1039%5Cnpapers3://publication/doi/10.1038/ncb1104-1039.

14. Clapham, D. E.; Runnels, L. W.; Strübing, C. The TRP ion channel family. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2001, *2*, 387–396, 10.1038/35077544,.

15. Binshtok, A. M.; Bean, B. P.; Woolf, C. J. Inhibition of nociceptors by TRPV1mediated entry of impermeant sodium channel blockers. *Nature* 2007, *449*, 607–610, 10.1038/nature06191,.

16. Brohawn, S. G.; Su, Z.; MacKinnon, R. Mechanosensitivity is mediated directly by

 the lipid membrane in TRAAK and TREK1 K+ channels. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 2014,

 111,
 3614–3619,

 10.1073/pnas.1320768111,

 http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1320768111.

17. Booth, P. J.; Riley, M. L.; Flitsch, S. L.; Templer, R. H.; Farooq, A.; Curran, A. R.; Chadborn, N.; Wright, P. Evidence that bilayer bending rigidity affects membrane protein folding. *Biochemistry* 1997, *36*, 197–203, 10.1021/bi962200m,.

18. Vorobyov, I.; Olson, T. E.; Kim, J. H.; Koeppe, R. E.; Andersen, O. S.; Allen, T. W. Ion-induced defect permeation of lipid membranes. *Biophys. J.* 2014, *106*, 586–597, 10.1016/j.bpj.2013.12.027, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2013.12.027.

19. Eastman, S. J.; Hope, M. J.; Cullis, P. R. Transbilayer transport of phosphatidic acid in response to transmembrane pH gradients. *Biochemistry* 1991, *30*, 1740–1745, 10.1021/bi00221a002, http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/bi00221a002.

20. Tominaga, T.; Tominaga, Y.; Yamada, H.; Matsumoto, G.; Ichikawa, M. Quantification of optical signals with electrophysiological signals in neural activities of Di-4-ANEPPS stained rat hippocampal slices. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 2000, *102*, 11–23, 10.1016/S0165-0270(00)00270-3,.

21. Fialova, K.; Kolarova, J.; Provaznik, I.; Novakova, M. Comparison of voltagesensitive dye di-4-ANNEPS effects in isolated hearts of rat, guinea pig, and rabbit. *2010 Comput. Cardiol.* 2010, 565–568.

 Hamada, T.; Yoshikawa, K. Cell-Sized Liposomes and Droplets: Real-World Modeling of Living Cells. *Materials (Basel)*. 2012, *5*, 2292–2305, 10.3390/ma5112292,.
 Muraoka, T.; Endo, T.; Tabata, K. V.; Noji, H.; Nagatoishi, S.; Tsumoto, K.; Li, R.; Kinbara, K. Reversible ion transportation switch by a ligand-gated synthetic supramolecular ion channel. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2014, *136*, 15584–15595, 10.1021/ja5070312,.

24. Marshall, J.; Molloy, R.; Moss, G. W. .; Howe, J. R.; Hughes, T. E. The jellyfish green fluorescent protein: A new tool for studying ion channel expression and function. *Neuron* 1995, *14*, 211–215, 10.1016/0896-6273(95)90279-1, http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/0896627395902791.

25. Ishikawa, K.; Fujigasaki, H.; Saegusa, H.; Ohwada, K.; Fujita, T.; Iwamoto, H.; Komatsuzaki, Y.; Toru, S.; Toriyama, H.; Watanabe, M.; Ohkoshi, N.; Shoji, S.; Kanazawa, I.; Tanabe, T.; Mizusawa, H. Abundant expression and cytoplasmic aggregations of [alpha]1A voltage- dependent calcium channel protein associated with neurodegeneration in spinocerebellar ataxia type 6. *Hum.Mol.Genet.* 1999, *8*, 1185–1193. 26. Fernández-Salas, E.; Suh, K. S.; Speransky, V. V; Bowers, W. L.; Levy, J. M.; Adams, T.; Pathak, K. R.; Edwards, L. E.; Hayes, D. D.; Cheng, C.; Steven, A. C.; Weinberg, W. C.; Yuspa, S. H. mtCLIC/CLIC4, an organellular chloride channel protein, is increased by DNA damage and participates in the apoptotic response to p53. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2002, *22*, 3610–20, 10.1128/MCB.22.11.3610, http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=133822&tool=pmcentrez &rendertype=abstract.

27. Hasson, C. J.; Caldwell, G. E.; Emmerik, R. E. A. Van NIH Public Access. *Motor Control* 2009, *27*, 590–609, 10.1016/j.humov.2008.02.015.Changes,.
